# UC San Diego

UC San Diego Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title Hybrid DC-DC Converters for Smart Integrated Power Delivery

Permalink <u>https://escholarship.org/uc/item/8bc2q0m3</u> Author Hardy, Casey

Publication Date 2022

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

### UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA SAN DIEGO

Hybrid DC-DC Converters for Smart Integrated Power Delivery

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy

in

### Electrical Engineering (Electronic Circuits and Systems)

by

Casey L. Hardy

Committee in charge:

Professor Hanh-Phuc Le, Chair Professor Shengqiang Cai Professor Gert Cauwenberghs Professor Patrick P. Mercier

Copyright Casey L. Hardy, 2022 All rights reserved. The Dissertation of Casey L. Hardy is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication on microfilm and electronically.

University of California San Diego

2022

### DEDICATION

To my wife, Molly.

In memory of Dad, Ryan, Mel, and Marshall.

EPIGRAPH

When you do things right, people won't be sure you've done anything at all.

Futurama, Godfellas, S3 Ep. 20

Dissertation Approval Page	iii
Dedication	iv
Epigraph	v
Table of Contents	vi
List of Figures	ix
List of Tables	xiv
Acknowledgements	xv
Vita x	viii
Abstract of the Dissertation	XX
Chapter 1Introduction1.1The Need for High Power Delivery Density for Mobile Products1.2High Input Voltage Charging and Power Delivery1.3Energy Density Challenges of Inductors1.4Switched-Capacitor Converter Advantages and Disadvantages1.5Hybrid Power Converters1.6Organization and Contributions of Dissertation	1 1 3 4 5 9
Chapter 2Charge Flow Based Analysis of Converters2.1DC Transformer and Loss Model of Converters2.2Analysis Example: Switched-Capacitor Converters2.3Analysis Example: Switched-Inductor Converters	11 11 12 24
Chapter 3       A Flying Inductor Hybrid Converter for 1-Cell and 2-Cell Battery Chargers         3.1       Background and Motivation         3.2       Power Stage Topology and Operation         3.3       Loss Analysis         3.3.1       SSL Resistance Contributions, V <sub>O1</sub> Loaded         3.3.2       FSL Resistance Contributions, V <sub>O1</sub> Loaded         3.3.3       SSL & FSL Resistance Contributions, V <sub>O2</sub> Loaded         3.3.4       Output Resistance Dependency on Duty Cycle         3.4       Optimization Methodology         3.4.1       Optimal Flying Capacitor Values         3.4.3       Optimization Process & Results	29 29 32 36 38 40 43 43 44 44 45 45
3.5 Implementation Details	47

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	3.5.1	Control Signal Routing & Gate Drivers	48
	3.5.2	Level Shifters	49
	3.5.3	Frequency Generator and Pulse Width Modulator with Duty Cycle Limits	50
	3.5.4	Non-overlapping Clock Generators	51
3.6	Experi	mental Verification	53
	3.6.1	Performance with a Discrete Inductor	53
	3.6.2	Performance with a USB Cable - Smart-Cable Architecture	57
	3.6.3	EMI Performance with a USB Cable - Smart-Cable Architecture	60
	3.6.4	Comparison to Prior Work	62
3.7	Conclu	sion	64
3.8	Ackno	wledgment	64
Chapter	4 A	Reconfigurable Single Inductor Multi-stage Hybrid Converter for 1-Cell	
	В	attery Chargers	66
4.1	Backg	round and Motivation	66
4.2	Topolo	bgy Concepts	67
4.3	Power	Stage and Operating Modes	69
	4.3.1	Lower Series-Parallel Mode (LSP) Operation	69
	4.3.2	Lower Parallel-Series Mode (LPS) Operation	71
	4.3.3	Upper Parallel-Series Mode (UPS) Operation	72
	4.3.4	Bypass Parallel-Series Mode (BPS) Operation	74
	4.3.5	Summary of Conversion Ratios Across Modes	75
	4.3.6	Inductor Current Comparison to 2-level and 3-level Buck Converters	78
4.4	Condu	ction Loss Analysis and Characteristics Across Modes	78
	4.4.1	Mode Selection Determination for Optimal Performance	81
4.5	Power	Switch Optimization	83
4.6	Impler	nentation Details	84
	4.6.1	Power Switches, Gate Drivers, and Level Shifters	84
	4.6.2	V <sub>O</sub> Regulation and V <sub>C1</sub> Balancer	87
	4.6.3	V <sub>C1</sub> Balancer Error Amplifier	88
	4.6.4	V <sub>C1</sub> Balancer Small Signal Analysis and Compensation	89
	4.6.5	Pulse Width Modulator Oscillator and Reference Signal Generation	94
	4.6.6	Control Signal Generation	96
	4.6.7	C <sub>1</sub> Pre-charge Control	100
	4.6.8	Automatic Mode and Active Current Shaping	100
4.7	Experi	mental Verification	101
	4.7.1	Steady-State Operation Measurements	103
	4.7.2	V <sub>C1</sub> Balancer Performance	103
	4.7.3	V <sub>C1</sub> Pre-charge and Start Up Measurements	104
	4.7.4	Automatic Mode and ACS Performance	104
	4.7.5	Power Efficiency Performance vs. Modes and Operating Points	105
	4.7.6	Comparison to Prior Work	107
4.8	Ackno	wledgment	107

Chapter 5	Conclusion	108
Bibliography		110

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1.	Examples of mobile device evolution over the years	2
Figure 1.2.	Conventional 2-level buck converter power stage, switching states, and LX switching node voltage	6
Figure 1.3.	Formation of a 3-level buck converter power stage	7
Figure 1.4.	3-level buck converter power stage and switching states for different duty cycle values.	8
Figure 1.5.	3-level buck converter LX switching node voltages for different duty cycle values.	8
Figure 1.6.	Normalized peak-to-peak inductor current ripple vs. duty cycle of 2-level and 3-level buck converters.	9
Figure 2.1.	Ideal DC transformer based loss model of a DC–DC converter	12
Figure 2.2.	Operating states, flying capacitor voltage, and charge flows for a 1:1 switched-capacitor converter.	13
Figure 2.3.	Flying capacitor energy loss for a 1:1 switched-capacitor converter	15
Figure 2.4.	Finding $R_{SSL}$ from the flying capacitor power loss for a 1:1 switched- capacitor converter.	16
Figure 2.5.	Operating states and charge flows for a 2:1 switched-capacitor converter.	17
Figure 2.6.	Finding <i>R<sub>SSL</sub></i> from the flying capacitor power loss for a 2:1 switched-capacitor converter.	18
Figure 2.7.	Comparison flying capacitor voltage and switch current behavior for (a) SSL, (b) SSL-to-FSL transition, and (c) FSL operating regions of a 2:1 switched-capacitor converter.	19
Figure 2.8.	Switch charge flows for a 2:1 switched-capacitor converter	20
Figure 2.9.	Switch power loss during FSL operation for a 2:1 switched-capacitor converter.	21
Figure 2.10.	Finding $R_{FSL}$ from the switch power losses for a 2:1 switched-capacitor converter.	22

Figure 2.11.	Combining $R_{SSL}$ and $R_{FSL}$ into a single $R_O$ for a switched-capacitor converter.	23
Figure 2.12.	Calculated vs. Simulated $R_O$ for an example 2:1 switched-capacitor converter.	24
Figure 2.13.	Operating states and charge flows analysis 2-level buck converter	26
Figure 2.14.	Charge flows and switch power losses for a 2-level buck converter	27
Figure 2.15.	Finding $R_O$ from the switch power losses for a 2-level buck converter	28
Figure 2.16.	Calculated vs. Simulated $R_O$ for a 2-level buck converter	28
Figure 3.1.	Survey of DCR vs. component volume for commercially available 1µH surface-mount inductors	31
Figure 3.2.	(a) Power stage of the proposed converter. (b) Operating phases and current flow when $V_{O1}$ is loaded.	31
Figure 3.3.	(a) Ideal switching waveforms. (b) Operating phases and current flow when $V_{O2}$ is loaded.	32
Figure 3.4.	Soft charging and hard discharging waveforms of $C_{F1}$	34
Figure 3.5.	Inductor current ripple ratio of the proposed FIH Converter to buck con- verter versus conversion ratios necessary for 1S charging from a 9V input.	37
Figure 3.6.	Charge flows for $V_{O1}$ loaded case. Differences of charge flows for $V_{O2}$ loaded case are in green text.	38
Figure 3.7.	(a) FSL scale factors for each switch. (b) FSL scale factors for flying capacitor ESRs and inductor DCR.	40
Figure 3.8.	Output resistance vs. duty cycle for an example converter	41
Figure 3.9.	FIH power stage with switching node parasitic capacitors	46
Figure 3.10.	Contour plot of power efficiency optimization.	47
Figure 3.11.	System block diagram of prototype converter.	48
Figure 3.12.	Control signal routing for power stage.	49
Figure 3.13.	Single and dual level shifter schematics.	50

Figure 3.14.	Schematics of a frequency generator and a pulse width modulator with duty cycle limits.	52
Figure 3.15.	Oscillator and PWM comparator schematics	52
Figure 3.16.	$\phi_1$ and $\phi_2$ non-overlapping clock generator schematic	53
Figure 3.17.	Die micrograph and PCB footprint with signal routing.	54
Figure 3.18.	Measured steady-state waveforms with $V_{O1}$ regulated at 3.6V/1A	55
Figure 3.19.	Measured efficiency (a) when $V_{O1}$ is loaded and (b) when $V_{O2}$ is loaded.	56
Figure 3.20.	Closed-loop load transient responses for (a) $V_{O1}$ and (b) $V_{O2}.\ \ldots\ldots\ldots$	56
Figure 3.21.	Measured (a) steady-state waveforms and (b) efficiency with a 1m USB cable.	58
Figure 3.22.	Block diagram of USB file transfer test setup.	59
Figure 3.23.	Block diagram and picture of radiated EMI test setup.	61
Figure 3.24.	Radiated EMI test results with V <sub>O1</sub> delivering 7.2W	61
Figure 3.25.	Block diagram of conducted EMI test setup.	62
Figure 3.26.	Conducted EMI test results with $V_{O1}$ delivering 7.2W	63
Figure 4.1.	High level diagrams and examples of hybrid converter configurations with the inductor at the output (a), input (b), and in the middle (c)	68
Figure 4.2.	SIMS converter power stage, switching node voltage levels, and voltage conversion ratios.	70
Figure 4.3.	LSP mode (a) operating states and (b) switching node and inductor current waveforms.	71
Figure 4.4.	LPS mode (a) operating states and (b) switching node and inductor current waveforms.	73
Figure 4.5.	UPS mode (a) operating states and (b) switching node and inductor current waveforms.	74
Figure 4.6.	BPS mode (a) operating states and (b) switching node and inductor current waveforms.	76
Figure 4.7.	Ideal VCR vs. duty cycle vs. main operating modes.	77

Figure 4.8.	Comparison of SIMS, 2-level buck, and 3-level buck peak-to-peak inductor current ripple and maximum inductor current value vs. VCR with $I_0 = 5A$ .	79
Figure 4.9.	(a) FSL scale factors for switches S1–S4 (b) FSL scale factors for switches S5–S7 (c) FSL scale factors for flying capacitor ESRs and inductor DCR.	82
Figure 4.10.	(a) Ideal VCRs vs. D and (b) normalized R <sub>0</sub> vs. VCR for an example SIMS converter.	83
Figure 4.11.	Block diagram of the SIMS converter prototype	85
Figure 4.12.	Power stage, gate driving, level shifter implementations	86
Figure 4.13.	High side shunt regulator and charge recycler	86
Figure 4.14.	$V_O$ and $V_{C1}$ balancer control diagram	88
Figure 4.15.	(a) Balancer error amplifier schematic and (b) enable/disable connections.	89
Figure 4.16.	V <sub>C1</sub> balancer small signal control loop block diagram	91
Figure 4.17.	$V_{C1}$ balancer error amplifier and compensation components	92
Figure 4.18.	Equivalent V <sub>C1</sub> balancer error amplifier differential mode half circuit with compensation network.	93
Figure 4.19.	Calculated and simulated $V_{C1}$ balancer loop gain vs. frequency example.	94
Figure 4.20.	PWM Oscillator and reference signal generation schematic.	96
Figure 4.21.	PWM control signal generator schematic	98
Figure 4.22.	PWM control signals for (a) LSP, (b) LPS, and (c) UPS modes	99
Figure 4.23.	Power switch control signal generator/selector schematic.	99
Figure 4.24.	C <sub>1</sub> pre-charge control diagram.	100
Figure 4.25.	Auto mode transition examples without and with ACS	101
Figure 4.26.	Auto mode duty cycle detection and ACS circuit and control waveforms.	102
Figure 4.27.	Annotated die micrograph for SIMS converter test chip	102
Figure 4.28.	Measured steady-state operating waveforms and RMS inductor current for each mode.	103

Figure 4.29.	Measured $C_1$ voltage balancer performance with balancer off vs. on	104
Figure 4.30.	Measured C <sub>1</sub> pre-charge and start-up waveforms	105
Figure 4.31.	Measured LSP-to-LPS Auto Mode with ACS transition during a load step change.	105
Figure 4.32.	Measured load step response for fixed (a) LSP and (b) LPS modes	106
Figure 4.33.	Measured LPS-to-LSP Auto Mode with ACS transition during a load step change.	106
Figure 4.34.	Measured power efficiency vs. output current vs. modes and input voltage.	106

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1.	Key components used for experiments with discrete inductor	54
Table 3.2.	Comparison with Prior Works	63
Table 4.1.	Summary of operating mode switching states and conversion ratios	77
Table 4.2.	Component and converter parameters used for Fig. 4.19 plot	95
Table 4.3.	SIMS Converter performance comparison to prior works.	107

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to first thank my advisor, Prof. Hanh-Phuc Le, for his non-stop support, guidance, and dedication to ensuring my Ph.D. journey was a holistic learning experience. I will be forever grateful for his suggestions and optimism whenever I was "blinded by my familiarity" with the problem at hand (as the late Bob Pease would say). I consider myself fortunate to have had the opportunity to learn from him throughout our collaborations together. It has been an immensely rewarding adventure and I am proud to be his first Ph.D. student.

Thank you to my other committee members: Prof. Patrick Mercier, Prof. Gert Cauwenberghs, and Prof. Shengqiang Cai. I greatly appreciate them taking the time out of their busy schedules to provide their valuable input on this work. I especially would like to thank Prof. Mercier for his support on our collaborative projects together.

This work would not have been possible without the support of our industry collaborators at Texas Instruments, AMD, Qualcomm, PMIC IAB, and SRC. Many thanks to Yogesh Ramadass, Kevin Scoones, Steve Kosonocky, Miguel Rodriguez, Joe Duncan, and Marko Koski for their time and support throughout each of my projects.

Equally as important, I also want to thank my colleagues and the friends I made along the way. Thanks to the CoPEC members at CU Boulder where I started my Ph.D. including Ashish Kumar, Vivek Sankaranarayanan, Branko Majmunovic, Brandon Regensburger, Satyaki Mukherjee, and Alihossein Sepahvand for the lively discussions inside and outside of the lab (some that went too late into the night for our own collective good). Thank you to Gabsu Seo for his foundational work that inspired my first chip as well as Prof. Dragan Maksimovic for his recommendation letters and for being an inspirational educator and researcher. I must of course express my deep gratitude to my iPower3Es teammates. Especially Ratul Das, Hieu Pham, Tianshi Xie, Po-Han Chen, and Saket Jha for all their support and help. I look forward to seeing all the cool things each of you will do and accomplish in your research and beyond.

Last and most definitely not least, I thank my wife and family. Thank you to my parents

for encouraging me to continue on with my college studies even when I had no idea what I wanted to do beyond playing guitar and occasionally living in a van on tour (not that there's anything wrong with that). If you had not nudged me to college, I never would have randomly flipped through the school's course catalog and decided to study electronics so I could build and repair my own guitar amplifiers/pedals. Now that I have a terminal degree in the field, I should probably get on that. Thank you to my amazing parent-in-laws, Dan and Dimity, for all your support. It is always a joy and pleasure spending time with you and the rest of your extended clan. An especially massive thanks to Dan for building the best lab in S. Lake Tahoe! Finally, thank you to my wonderful and immensely patient wife, Molly. Thank you for coming on this graduate school adventure, supporting me during my grumpiest of times while I cursed simulations/CAD tools/analyses that did not bend to my will, and for checking in on me to make sure I was still alive during all those long work days/nights. I cannot imagine making it this far or even pursuing this path without your compassion, patience, and support.

Casey Hardy

S. Lake Tahoe, California

Dec. 9, 2022

The material in this dissertation is mostly based on the following published and accepted papers. Chapter 3, is based on and mostly a reprint of the following publications:

C. Hardy and H. Le, "8.3 A 10.9W 93.4%-Efficient (27W 97%-Efficient) Flying-Inductor Hybrid DC-DC Converter Suitable for 1-Cell (2-Cell) Battery Charging Applications," in 2019 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), Feb. 2019, pp. 150–152.

C. Hardy, Y. Ramadass, K. Scoones, and H.-P. Le, "A Flying-Inductor Hybrid DC-DC Converter for 1-Cell and 2-Cell Smart-Cable Battery Chargers," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 54, no. 12, pp. 3292–3305, Dec. 2019.

Chapter 4, in part, has been accepted for publication of the material as it may appear in:

C. Hardy and H. Le, "11.5 A 21W 94.8%-Efficient Reconfigurable Single Inductor Multi-Stage Hybrid DC-DC Converter," 2023 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, USA, Feb. 2023.

The dissertation author is the primary author of these publications and the co-authors have approved the use of the material for this dissertation.

#### VITA

2004	Bachelor of Science in Electronics Engineering Technology, Western Washington
	University, Bellingham, WA

- 2004–2007 Applications Engineer, Maxim Integrated, Sunnyvale, CA
- 2007–2013 Hardware Design Engineer, Apple Inc., Cupertino, CA
- 2014 Analog IC Design Intern, Maxim Integrated, San Jose, CA
- 2014–2016 Analog IC Design Contractor, Maxim Integrated, San Jose, CA
- 2015 Master of Science in Embedded Electrical and Computer Systems, San Francisco State University, San Francisco, CA
- 2016–2019 Research Assistant, University of Colorado at Boulder, Boulder, CO
- 2018–2019 IC Design Co-Op, AMD, Fort Collins, CO
- 2019–2022 Graduate Student Researcher, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA
- 2020 Analog IC Design Intern, Texas Instruments, Santa Clara, CA
- 2022 Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical Engineering (Electronic Circuits and Systems), University of California San Diego, La Jolla, CA

### PUBLICATIONS

C. Hardy and H. Le, "11.5 A 21W 94.8%-Efficient Reconfigurable Single Inductor Multi-Stage Hybrid DC-DC Converter," Feb. 2023 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, USA, 2023.

C. Hardy, H. Pham, M. Jatlaoui, F. Voiron, T. Xie, P. Chen, S. Jha, P. Mercier, and H. Le, "11.1 A Scalable Heterogeneous Integrated Two-Stage Vertical Power Delivery Architecture for High Performance Computing," 2023 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, USA, 2023.

H. Pham, R. Das, C. Hardy, D. Kimball, P. Asbeck, and H. Le, "Adjustable 4-Level Hybrid Converter for Symbol Power Tracking in 5G NR," 2023 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference - (APEC), Orlando, FL, USA, 2023.

C. Hardy, Y. Ramadass, K. Scoones, and H.-P. Le, "A Flying-Inductor Hybrid DC-DC Converter for 1-Cell and 2-Cell Smart-Cable Battery Chargers," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 54, no. 12, pp. 3292–3305, Dec. 2019.

C. Hardy and H. Le, "8.3 A 10.9W 93.4%-Efficient (27W 97%-Efficient) Flying-Inductor Hybrid DC-DC Converter Suitable for 1-Cell (2-Cell) Battery Charging Applications," in 2019 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), Feb. 2019, pp. 150–152.

C. Hardy, "A Low Power, Filter-Less Class D Audio Amplifier For Headphone Applications," M.S. thesis, Dept. Elect. Eng., San Francisco State Univ., San Francisco, CA, USA, 2015.

### ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Hybrid DC-DC Converters for Smart Integrated Power Delivery

by

Casey L. Hardy

### Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical Engineering (Electronic Circuits and Systems)

University of California San Diego, 2022

Professor Hanh-Phuc Le, Chair

The continual increase in performance and feature densities of small form factor mobile products has driven the need for high-capacity batteries and thus battery charger solutions with higher power-delivery densities to meet the demand for reduced charging times. The USB-C power delivery specification was developed to meet these higher demands by providing a programmable  $V_{BUS}$  voltage range of 5–20 V with up to 100 W of power delivery, which serves as the input voltage ( $V_{IN}$ ) for the battery charger. A DC-DC converter that efficiently takes advantage of this wide  $V_{IN}$  range while providing an output voltage ( $V_O$ ) range suitable for battery charging (e.g. 2.8V–4.2V) is challenging but highly desirable for space constrained products. Hybrid converters provide a path to meet these challenges by leveraging the benefits of both switched-capacitor (SC) and switched-inductor (SI) techniques to reduce inductor size and efficiently provide high  $v_{IN}/v_0$  voltage conversion ratios (VCRs). The former is important since inductors have substantially lower energy storage densities compared to modern capacitor technologies. Therefore, inductors tend to be the largest occupiers of board space and bill-of-material cost out of all the converter passives. Additionally, die-level or package-level integration of high quality inductors can be challenging when compared to capacitors.

This work intends to address these challenges by introducing new hybrid converter topologies that reduce the energy processing required by the inductor while still achieving the VCRs needed to take advantage of the benefits offered by higher  $V_{IN}$  charging. This reduces the reliance on large, high quality inductors to maintain high power efficiency. The first part of this dissertation provides background regarding charge-based converter analysis. The next part presents a flying inductor hybrid topology that relocates the inductor from the high output current location to lower input current location while providing multiple outputs for 1-cell and 2-cell charging. The last part presents a single inductor multi-stage hybrid converter that utilizes an inductor to couple two SC stages to provide soft-charging benefits to each stage while leveraging reconfiguration to efficiently provide a wide range of VCRs.

# Chapter 1 Introduction

# **1.1 The Need for High Power Delivery Density for Mobile Products**

The performance and feature densities of mobile products continue to increase on an annual basis. Every year, new devices arrive with higher performance processors, higher quality cameras/displays, and additional features such as contact-less payments, facial recognition, and other biometrics just to name a few. To give some perspective on this, Figure 1.1 provides some data points regarding the evolution of laptops and mobile phones over the decades since their initial release. From these examples it should be evident that while performance improves and feature lists increase, some consumer expectations remain constant with each new product introduction: battery life should increase, charging times should decrease, and products should become smaller and lighter. Whether these expectations are met is largely dependent on the energy conversion and space efficiencies of the internal power electronics that must operate within the thermal constraints of the product.

## **1.2 High Input Voltage Charging and Power Delivery**

The battery life challenge can be partially alleviated with the utilization of higher capacity batteries. However, this often comes at the cost of a reduction in available space for power electronics and requires higher power density battery chargers to meet the demand for reduced



Figure 1.1. Examples of mobile device evolution over the years.

charging times. The Universal Serial Bus Type-C (USB-C) 3.0 power delivery specification [1] was created to enable higher power delivery and faster charge times by providing a range of fixed  $V_{BUS}$  voltages of 5V, 9V, 15V, and 20V, which serves as the input voltage ( $V_{IN}$ ) for the battery charger. These higher  $V_{IN}$  voltage settings also minimize input current levels and associated I<sup>2</sup>R losses across the USB-C cable, preserving overall system efficiency while charging at these higher power levels. A DC-DC converter that efficiently takes advantage of this wide  $V_{IN}$  range while providing an output voltage ( $V_O$ ) range suitable for battery charging (e.g. 2.8V–4.2V for a single cell Li-ion battery) is challenging but highly desirable for these thermally constrained, small form factor products.

## **1.3 Energy Density Challenges of Inductors**

The magnetic components present a multitude of design challenges for conventional switched inductor (SI) DC-DC converters. Specifically, the inductors in conventional step-down converter topologies are typically located at the output of the converter and must conduct the full current provided to the load. Due to the high-power demands of applications such as fast charging of high capacity batteries, this means the inductor must process significant levels of current. This typically requires the physical size of the inductor to be large or the inductor component count to be increased to minimize conduction losses associated with winding resistances (DCR); increasing board space requirements, PCB routing complexity, and cost. On top of that, the saturation current rating ( $I_{SAT}$ ) of the inductor must be greater than the expected maximum current (i.e. load current plus ripple current) seen by the inductor. Increases in  $I_{SAT}$  rating also typically translates into increases in physical size. As discussed in [2], the energy storage densities of inductors can be multiple orders of magnitude lower than capacitors. This translates to inductors being one of the largest consumers of board space and any increase in physical size can be challenging for space constrained products such as modern smart phones or tablets.

# 1.4 Switched-Capacitor Converter Advantages and Disadvantages

An obvious solution around the limitations of low energy density of inductors is to eliminate need for them completely through the use of switched-capacitor (SC) converters. The high energy density of modern capacitor technology has allowed SC converters to become one potential avenue for promoting further system integration and area reduction. However, as described in [3], when capacitors transfer or receive charge through an ideal or non-ideal interconnect (i.e. a power switch) there is an unavoidable charge transfer loss due to the high rate of voltage change across the capacitors (i.e. high dV/dt) during the charge transfer, resulting in impulse shaped current flow in the capacitors. This loss is proportional to the square of the resulting voltage ripple across the capacitor during the charging and discharging events also known as hard charge losses. SC converter topologies can achieve high power efficiencies but only when operating near an optimal fixed voltage ripple across the capacitors. Therefore, voltage regulation beyond the ideal VCR for a given topology can only be achieved by incurring substantial energy losses and efficiency penalties.

Reconfigurable SC converter techniques can be leveraged to address this limitation by introducing the capability of changing the SC topology [4] or cascading and stacking of SC unit cells or combination of both [5]. However, these techniques come at the cost of additional power switches and control complexity. While this may be feasible for low voltage applications where advanced technology nodes allow high switch count with manageable die area impact, substantial increases in switch count may not be feasible for high voltage converter applications where many switches may need to interface with high voltage domains. This demands higher voltage ratings for these switches and dramatic increases in required area. Additionally, these larger devices introduce significant increases in gate and parasitic capacitances; placing practical limitations on maximum switching frequencies and associated switching losses.

## **1.5 Hybrid Power Converters**

Hybrid power converters that leverage the benefits of both SI and SC topologies provide a viable path to address these challenges. Hybrid power conversion has been a very active area of recent power electronics research [6–17] and has already seen some commercial adoption [18–20] thanks to its potential benefits such as inductor size reduction and high VCRs at high power efficiencies. In general terms, these beneficial characteristics are largely enabled by utilizing the capacitor voltages in a SC network to provide:

- Additional V<sub>IN</sub> reduction  $\rightarrow$  Higher  $V_{NV_{V_{0}}}$  step-down VCRs [9, 10, 12, 14, 17]
- Additional V<sub>O</sub> increase  $\rightarrow$  Higher  $v_{V_{IN}}$  step-up VCRs [16]
- Reduced voltage blocking rating for power switches → Higher switching frequency and less switching losses → Reduced inductor size/current ripple [6–8, 14, 16, 21]
- Reduced inductor voltage swing  $\rightarrow$  Reduced inductor size/current ripple [6–8, 21]

while utilizing inductor currents for charging/discharging of SC network capacitors to:

- Reduce or eliminate capacitor hard charge losses → Smaller capacitors while maintaining high power efficiency [6–8, 12, 14, 16]
- Efficient continuous  $V_O$  control  $\rightarrow$  Wider range of efficient VCRs [6–8,22]

It should be noted that while these are all potential benefits offered by hybrid conversion techniques, whether all or only some are fully or partially achieved is highly dependent on the topology and design implementation. The importance and overall impact of each benefit are also highly dependent on the application space needs and priorities.

One of the simplest examples that illustrates many of these points is to compare a traditional 2-level to its closes hybrid counterpart, the 3-level buck converter. As shown Figure 1.2, the 2-level buck has two unique switching states that allow two levels of voltage at the LX node  $(V_{IN} \text{ and } 0V)$  resulting in a step-down VCR equal to the duty cycle, D, of switch SW1 which is defined as the portion of the switching period, T<sub>S</sub>, that SW1 is on (T<sub>ON</sub>). As can be observed in the switching states and LX switching node voltage, V<sub>LX</sub>, of Figure 1.2 each switch would require a voltage rating greater than or equal to V<sub>IN</sub> since it must block this voltage when in the off state. It can also be readily shown from the inductor voltage, V<sub>L</sub>, the resulting peak-to-peak inductor current ripple as a function of D (i.e. VCR) and V<sub>IN</sub> is

$$\Delta i_{L-2L} = \frac{V_{IN}D\left(1-D\right)}{Lf_S} \tag{1.1}$$

where  $f_S = 1/T_S$  is the converter switching frequency and *L* is the inductor value.



**Figure 1.2.** Conventional 2-level buck converter power stage, switching states, and LX switching node voltage.

In the case of the 3-level buck shown in Figure 1.3, a 2:1 series-parallel SC network is inserted in front of the inductor by adding two switches and a flying capacitor,  $C_F$ , which is assumed to have a steady-state DC voltage of  $v_{IV/2}$ , and includes four unique states that allow three levels of voltage at the LX node ( $V_{IN}$ ,  $v_{IV/2}$ , and 0V). As with the 2-level buck, the resulting step-down VCR is equal to the duty cycle, D, of switch SW1. However, it can be seen in



Figure 1.3. Formation of a 3-level buck converter power stage.

Figure 1.4 and the  $V_{LX}$  waveforms in Figure 1.5, the additional voltage blocking provided  $C_F$ 's voltage reduces the minimum switch voltage rating to  $v_{IN/2}$  and enables the possibility of significant switch area and energy loss savings through the use of higher conductance density switches with lower associated gate and parasitic capacitances. This also reduces the voltage swing of  $V_L$  and the resulting peak-to-peak inductor current ripple which can shown as a function of D and  $V_{IN}$  as

$$\Delta i_{L-3L} = \frac{V_{IN}D(1-2D)}{2Lf_{S}}$$
(1.2)

for 0 < D < 0.5 and

$$\Delta i_{L-3L} = \frac{V_{IN}(1-D)(2D-1)}{2Lf_S}$$
(1.3)

for 0.5 < D < 1 with the ripple approaching zero at D = 0.5. Figure 1.6 plots the inductor ripple currents normalized by the maximum 2-level buck value to further illustrate the substantial reduction provided by the 3-level buck. As can be seen, there is a 4x reduction in the maximum peak-to-peak value when compared the 2-level buck. It should be noted this is also aided by the fact there is an effective doubling in the switching frequency seen by the inductor as implied in the waveforms of Figure 1.5 with the net effect being the opportunity for significant inductor size/value reduction over the traditional 2-level solution.

The operating behaviors presented here in the context of a 3-level buck reinforces the potentially significant gains of hybrid converter techniques. As shown, merging a simple series-parallel SC topology with the operation of a conventional buck converter reduced the required



**Figure 1.4.** 3-level buck converter power stage and switching states for different duty cycle values.



Figure 1.5. 3-level buck converter LX switching node voltages for different duty cycle values.



**Figure 1.6.** Normalized peak-to-peak inductor current ripple vs. duty cycle of 2-level and 3-level buck converters.

the switch voltage ratings and inductor ripple current while also increasing the effective inductor switching frequency; creating a pathway to substantial efficiency and circuit area benefits. Extensions of these techniques and resulting benefits will be illustrated further in Chapters 3 and 4.

## **1.6 Organization and Contributions of Dissertation**

The exploration of the discussed properties of hybrid converters in the previous section and their demonstrated advantages in both academic research [6–17] and commercial products [18–20] is the basis of the research conducted for this dissertation. This work aims to leverage these properties for the exploration of new topologies, perspectives, and implementation concepts of hybrid converters. The term "smart" in the title of this dissertation is intended to describe a holistic approach to hybrid converter design that:

- Explores the usage of parasitic reactive elements already present in systems for power conversion.
- Flexibility and extension of VCRs to provide a single, power efficient, hardware solution for multiple application use cases.
- Not only leverages the benefits of merging SC and SI operation but also explores the benefits of merging multi-stage operation.
- Reduces the reliance on low energy density components such inductors to promote integration and size reduction.

In order to provide some background regarding the modeling approach of the converter prototypes discussed in this dissertation, Chapter 2 provides an overview of charge flow based analysis of conventional converters and how it can be easily extended to hybrid topologies. This is intended to demonstrate the utility of the analysis method in the estimation of the loss modeling which are then utilized in the design and optimization of the converters presented in Chapters 3 and 4. Chapter 3 presents a new step-down hybrid converter topology that utilizes an input flying inductor and a SC network to provide two outputs suitable for 1-cell and 2-cell battery charging from a 9V input. The topology prototype is also demonstrated while using the parasitic inductance of a USB cable in place of a discrete inductor to facilitate its integration into a proposed smart-cable architecture. Chapter 4 presents a reconfigurable single inductor multi-stage hybrid step-down converter that efficiently provides the VCRs needed for 1-cell battery charging across a wide input voltage range of 5V–24V while moving the inductor away from the high output current path. The inductor is used to couple two synchronous SC stages to provide soft charging benefits to each stage and extends reconfigurable SC and merged multi-stage operation concepts. Finally, a summary of the contributions and conclusions of this work will be provided in Chapter 5.

# Chapter 2 Charge Flow Based Analysis of Converters

## 2.1 DC Transformer and Loss Model of Converters.

As derived in [23], a DC-DC converter in steady-state can be modeled as an ideal DC transformer shown in Figure 2.1 where the ideal VCR of the converter is

$$M = \frac{V_{O-ideal}}{V_{IN}} = \frac{I_{IN}}{I_O}$$
(2.1)

where  $I_{IN}$  and  $I_O$  represent the DC input and output currents of the converter, respectively. In Figure 2.1,  $R_L$  is the converter load resistance and  $R_O$  is a lumped output resistance that models the total load dependent conduction losses of the converter and is also equivalent to the open loop output resistance of the converter. The resulting open loop (i.e. unregulated)  $V_O$  can then be found by

$$V_O = V_{O-ideal} - I_O R_O \tag{2.2}$$

if the value of  $I_O$  is known. As discussed in [4], other losses such as quiescent current related losses and switching losses can also be modeled as an equivalent shunt loss element, but these losses are omitted for this discussion.

As can be seen from this simple model,  $R_O$  should be minimize to maximize power efficiency. Additionally, in the case of a closed loop regulator implementation, M,  $R_O$ , or a combination of both could be adjusted by the control loop to regulate  $V_O$  to the target output



**Figure 2.1.** Ideal DC transformer based loss model of a DC–DC converter.

voltage.

## 2.2 Analysis Example: Switched-Capacitor Converters

Given that SC converters are essentially charge processors that operate by transferring discrete packets of charge from input to output, a charge flow based approach greatly simplifies the analysis and derivations of their salient features [3]. To clearly illustrate how the ideal VCR, M, and hard charge conduction losses associated with a flying capacitor can be evaluated by just examining the charge transfer behavior of a converter, a simple parallel 1:1 SC converter will be used as an initial example for demonstrating some principles of the analysis method. The 1:1 SC converter and corresponding operating states are shown in Figure 2.2. Note the output capacitor is assumed to be large in value and emulates the behavior of a DC voltage source. From the properties of an ideal transformer and the fact that current is a transfer of charge per unit time, equation (2.1) can easily be re-written in terms of charge as

$$M = \frac{I_{IN}}{I_O} = \frac{q_{IN}/T_s}{q_O/T_s} = \frac{q_{IN}}{q_O}$$
(2.3)

where  $q_{IN}$  and  $q_O$  are the total amounts of input charge and output charge transferred over one switching period,  $T_S$ , respectively. As shown in the flying capacitor voltage waveform ( $V_C$ ) of Figure 2.2, the flying capacitor, C, is charged to  $V_{IN}$  in State A and discharged to  $V_O$  in State B. It is also assumed each state lasts for  $T_S/2$  (i.e. 50% duty cycle) and the duration of each state is



Figure 2.2. Operating states, flying capacitor voltage, and charge flows for a 1:1 switched-capacitor converter.

much longer than the RC time constants of the flying capacitor and switch on-resistances (i.e. switches are ideal). When the capacitor is charged to  $V_{IN}$  it accumulates a unit charge, q, that is proportional to  $\Delta V_C$  which must then be discharged into  $V_O$  in order for the converter to be in steady-state and remain charge balanced [23]. Summing the total input and output charge transfers during each switching state and substituting into equation (2.3) results in

$$q_{IN} = q_{IN}^A + q_{IN}^B = q + 0 = q$$
$$q_O = q_O^A + q_O^B = 0 + q = q$$
$$M = \frac{q}{q} = 1$$

where the superscripts in the charge terms correspond to the charge transfers corresponding to those respective switching states.

To understand the origin of the hard charge losses associated with the flying capacitor, Figure 2.3 provides the analysis of the energy lost when the capacitor, C, transitions from state A to state B where it is again assumed the switches are ideal. To find the loss during this during this transition, the energy delivered by the  $V_{IN}$  source is first found as

$$E_{IN} = V_{IN}C(V_{IN} - V_O)$$

and then the energy received by the capacitor in state A is found as

$$E_C^A = C\left(\frac{(V_{IN})^2}{2} - \frac{(V_O)^2}{2}\right).$$

The energy lost during the charge transfer is then the difference of the energy delivered by the source and the energy received by the capacitor:

$$E_{LOSS}^{A} = E_{IN} - E_{C}^{A} = \frac{1}{2}C(V_{IN} - V_{O})^{2} = \frac{1}{2}C(\Delta V_{C})^{2}.$$

Repeating the analysis for the transition to state B yields the same result of

$$\frac{1}{2}C(\Delta V_C)^2.$$

Therefore the total energy lost over the switching periods is

$$E_{LOSS} = E_{LOSS}^A + E_{LOSS}^B = C(\Delta V_C)^2$$
(2.4)

Now that we have an expression for the energy loss of the flying capacitor over a switching period, Figure 2.4 shows how this loss can be related back to the equivalent converter  $R_O$  resistance shown in the ideal DC transformer model (Figure 2.1). Since the change in the capacitor voltage is also

$$\Delta V_C = \frac{q}{C}$$


Figure 2.3. Flying capacitor energy loss for a 1:1 switched-capacitor converter.

where q is the charge accumulated or removed from it, (2.4) can be re-written as

$$E_{LOSS} = \frac{q^2}{C}$$

and the resulting power loss for the capacitor is

$$P_{LOSS} = \frac{E_{LOSS}}{T_S} = \frac{q^2}{CT_S}$$
(2.5)

As shown in Figure 2.4, we can also define the equivalent conduction power loss from the DC transformer model as

$$P_{LOSS} = (I_O)^2 R_O = \left(\frac{q_O}{T_S}\right)^2 R_O$$
(2.6)

since the DC output current is the total output charge transferred over one switching period. Equating equations (2.5) and (2.6) and solving for  $R_O$  yields what is known as the slow-switching limit output resistance of the 1:1 SC converter

$$R_{SSL} = \left(\frac{q}{q_0}\right)^2 \frac{1}{f_s C} = \left(\frac{q}{q}\right)^2 \frac{1}{f_s C} = \frac{1}{f_s C}$$
(2.7)

where  $f_s$  is the switching frequency of the converter ( $f_s = 1/T_s$ ). The  $R_{SSL}$  is the equivalent



**Figure 2.4.** Finding  $R_{SSL}$  from the flying capacitor power loss for a 1:1 switched-capacitor converter.

conduction loss output resistance due to the hard charging losses of the flying capacitor, C. In other words, this is the equivalent output resistance contribution of the flying capacitor due to the voltage ripple ( $\Delta V_C$ ) across it. It should be noted that the  $q/q_0$  term in Figure 2.4 is also known as the charge multiplier for flying capacitor, C, for this topology as described in the generalized SC analysis approach described in [3].

Now that some of the basic charge flow concepts have been demonstrated for the VCR and  $R_{SSL}$  derivations for one of the most elementary of SC topologies, let us now apply them to a slightly more complicated 2:1 topology which will then be used to illustrate the derivation of the remaining conduction loss elements. The 2:1 SC converter, corresponding operating states, and charge flows are provided in Figure 2.5. Following the same procedures from the preceding example, it can be seen that the flying capacitor, C, again processes a unit q of charge when charging and discharging. The major difference now is that, when it is charged, it also allows the same charge to pass to the output. Summing the total input and output charges of the switching cycles yields

$$q_{IN} = q_{IN}^A + q_{IN}^B = q + 0 = q$$



Figure 2.5. Operating states and charge flows for a 2:1 switched-capacitor converter.

$$q_O = q_O^A + q_O^B = q + q = 2q$$

with a resulting ideal VCR of

$$M = \frac{q_{IN}}{q_O} = \frac{q}{2q} = \frac{1}{2}.$$

Again, as shown in Figure 2.6, the  $R_{SSL}$  resistance can be derived by equating the  $\Delta V_C$  ripple related power loss of the flying capacitor to the ideal transformer  $R_O$  related conduction losses resulting in

$$R_{SSL} = \left(\frac{q}{q_0}\right)^2 \frac{1}{f_s C} = \left(\frac{q}{2q}\right)^2 \frac{1}{f_s C} = \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^2 \frac{1}{f_s C} = \frac{1}{4f_s C}$$
(2.8)

which shows that as with the 1:1 SC converter the  $R_{SSL}$  related loss is inversely proportional with the switching frequency but is a 4x smaller for the same  $f_S$  and flying capacitor value. This illustrates one of the interesting topology dependencies that is further discussed in [2, 3]. It should also be noted that while the 1:1 and 2:1 SC converters presented here have a single flying capacitor that happen to process a single q of charge in the charge flow analyses, there are many other topologies with a larger number of flying capacitors that may each process different amounts of q in their operation [3, 24, 25].

$$E_{Loss} = C(\Delta V_C)^2 = C\left(\frac{q}{C}\right)^2 = \frac{q^2}{C}$$

$$P_{Loss} = \frac{E_{Loss}}{T_S} = \frac{q^2}{CT_S}$$

$$\frac{q^2}{CT_S} = \left(\frac{q_0}{T_S}\right)^2 R_{SSL}$$

$$P_{Loss} = (I_0)^2 R_{SSL} = \left(\frac{q_0}{T_S}\right)^2 R_{SSL}$$

$$R_{SSL} = \left(\frac{q}{q_0}\right)^2 \frac{1}{f_SC} = \left(\frac{q}{2q}\right)^2 \frac{1}{f_SC} = \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^2 \frac{1}{f_SC} = \frac{1}{4f_SC}$$

$$V_{\rm IN} \rightarrow 2:1$$

$$\frac{1}{4f_SC}$$

$$V_{\rm IN} \rightarrow 2:1$$

**Figure 2.6.** Finding  $R_{SSL}$  from the flying capacitor power loss for a 2:1 switched-capacitor converter.

Since  $R_{SSL}$  related losses are caused by the flying capacitor ripple voltage and are inversely proportional to  $f_S$  for a given capacitor value, it is understandable to expect the efficiency to be maximized if  $f_S$  is maximized if switching losses are ignored. However, as previously mentioned, the analysis for the slow-switching limit (SSL) related losses assumed ideal switches and that the RC time constants of the switch on-resistances and flying capacitor were much shorter than the switching period. Figure 2.7 shows the simulated  $V_C$ , SW1 current  $(I_{SW1})$ , and SW2 current  $(I_{SW2})$  for an example 2:1 SC converter at different  $f_S$  values. As can be seen in Figure 2.7(a),  $T_S$  is long enough to allow the flying capacitor to almost completely charge/discharge during each switching state, resulting in noticeable  $V_C$  ripple, and the switch currents have impulse-like shapes with exceptionally high peaks that are only limited by the small switch resistances in charging/discharging paths and the corresponding voltages across them. Therefore, the converter is clearly in SSL operation. However, as  $f_S$  is increased in Figure 2.7(b) the switch currents begin to lose their impulse-like shape due to the finite switch on-resistances and the corresponding time constants formed with the flying capacitor in each state being on par with the switching state durations. It can also be seen the  $\Delta V_C$  ripple is



**Figure 2.7.** Comparison flying capacitor voltage and switch current behavior for (a) SSL, (b) SSL-to-FSL transition, and (c) FSL operating regions of a 2:1 switched-capacitor converter.

substantially reduced, implying the  $R_{SSL}$  related losses are also substantially reduced. Finally, if  $f_S$  is further increased to an exceptionally high value as shown in Figure 2.7(c), it can be seen that the switch and capacitor time constants are much longer that switching state durations, resulting in the switch currents to be nearly constant when on and there to be near zero  $\Delta V_C$ ripple across the capacitor. This region of operation is known as the fast-switching limit (FSL) whereas the region of operation in Figure 2.7(b) lies somewhere between the SSL and FSL regions. Since the  $\Delta V_C$  ripple across the capacitor in FSL is near zero, this would imply there is little to no SSL related losses. However, as can be seen from the switch current waveforms in Figure 2.7(c), during FSL operation there is clearly current flow through the switches which have finite on-resistances. Therefore, there must still be some conduction energy dissipated by the switches when on.

In order to derive a new expression for this FSL related conduction loss, we can re-visit the charge flows for each state shown in Figure 2.8 with a focus on the charges processed by each of the power switches and leveraging the fact that the switch currents are nearly constant during FSL operation as shown in Figure 2.7(c) to greatly simplify the derivation. It should be noted that while the exact value of the unit charge, q, processed by each circuit element in the converter may be drastically different in SSL vs. FSL operation (as made apparent in the



Figure 2.8. Switch charge flows for a 2:1 switched-capacitor converter.

significantly different switch current shapes and time durations in Figure 2.7), the actual value of the charges is unimportant as we only need to know the charge processed by each circuit element and how to relate that back to energy loss for the operating region of interest (i.e. SSL or FSL). As shown in Figure 2.8, each switch processes a q amount of charge since the flying capacitor acquires a q amount of charge in state A and discharges a q amount of charge in state B to maintain steady-state charge balance as was the case for during SSL operation.

Figure 2.9 illustrates how the power loss of the switches can be easily found by taking advantage of the fact the switch currents are nearly constant when on. This approximation makes it easy to derive an expression for the total charge processed by the switch through a simple integration calculation (i.e. the red shaded area of  $I_{SW1}$  waveform in Figure 2.9) which is

$$q = I_{SW1} \frac{T_S}{2}$$

where  $I_{SW1}$  is the peak current value of SW1. This can then be used to build the expression for the switch energy loss during its on-time in terms of *q* and  $T_S$ :

$$E_{SW1} = P_{SW1} \frac{T_S}{2} = (I_{SW1})^2 R_{ON1} \frac{T_S}{2} = \left(\frac{q}{T_s/2}\right)^2 R_{ON1} \frac{T_S}{2} = \frac{2q^2}{T_S} R_{ON1}$$

$$E_{SW1} = P_{SW1} \frac{T_s}{2} = (I_{SW1})^2 R_{0N1} \frac{T_s}{2} = \left(\frac{q}{T_s/2}\right)^2 R_{0N1} \frac{T_s}{2} = \frac{2q^2}{T_s} R_{0N1}$$

$$P_{SW1} = \frac{2q^2}{T_s^2} R_{0N1} P_{SW2} = \frac{2q^2}{T_s^2} R_{0N2}$$

$$P_{SW3} = \frac{2q^2}{T_s^2} R_{0N3} P_{SW4} = \frac{2q^2}{T_s^2} R_{0N4}$$

$$P_{Loss} = P_{SW1} + P_{SW2} + P_{SW3} + P_{SW4}$$

$$= \frac{2q^2}{T_s^2} (R_{0N1} + R_{0N2} + R_{0N3} + R_{0N4})$$

Figure 2.9. Switch power loss during FSL operation for a 2:1 switched-capacitor converter.

and the power dissipated by SW1 is

$$P_{SW1} = \frac{2q^2}{T_S^2}$$

where  $R_{ON1}$  is the on-resistance of SW1. This is the same power loss expression for the remaining switches, since each switch in this converter example processes the same amount of charge as shown in Figure 2.8. Note that other topologies may have switches that processes unequal amounts of charge [3, 24, 25]. Summing the total power loss for all the switches results in

$$P_{LOSS} = P_{SW1} + P_{SW2} + P_{SW3} + P_{SW4} = \frac{2q^2}{T_S^2} (R_{ON1} + R_{ON2} + R_{ON3} + R_{ON4}).$$
(2.9)

As illustrated in Figure 2.10, we can again use the ideal DC transformer conduction loss model to derive the FSL conduction loss element by equating equations (2.6) and (2.9) and solving for the equivalent output resistance, resulting in

$$R_{FSL} = \frac{1}{2} (R_{ON1} + R_{ON2} + R_{ON3} + R_{ON4})$$
(2.10)

where  $R_{FSL}$  is the lumped equivalent conduction loss output resistance due to the power switch onresistances for the 2:1 SC converter operating in the FSL region. As also annotated in Figure 2.10, each switch also has its own charge multiplier term that can be used in the generalized analysis

$$P_{Loss} = \frac{2q^{2}}{T_{s}^{2}}(R_{0N1} + R_{0N2} + R_{0N3} + R_{0N4})$$

$$\frac{2q^{2}}{T_{s}^{2}}(R_{0N1} + R_{0N2} + R_{0N3} + R_{0N4}) = \left(\frac{q_{0}}{T_{s}}\right)^{2}R_{FSL}$$

$$P_{Loss} = (I_{0})^{2}R_{FSL} = \left(\frac{q_{0}}{T_{s}}\right)^{2}R_{FSL}$$

$$R_{FSL} = 2\left(\frac{q}{q_{0}}\right)^{2}(R_{0N1} + R_{0N2} + R_{0N3} + R_{0N4}) = 2\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{2}(R_{0N1} + R_{0N2} + R_{0N3} + R_{0N4})$$

$$R_{FSL} = \frac{1}{2}(R_{0N1} + R_{0N2} + R_{0N3} + R_{0N3} + R_{0N4})$$

Figure 2.10. Finding  $R_{FSL}$  from the switch power losses for a 2:1 switched-capacitor converter.

provided in [3]. It should also be noted that the loss contributions of any component equivalent series resistances (ESRs), parasitic layout resistances, etc. can also be analyzed in the same manner and integrated into the final  $R_{FSL}$  expression if needed and as will be discussed later in Chapters 3–4.

Up to now, it has been shown that the derivations of the flying capacitor hard charge losses and power switch conduction losses can be easily derived with charge flow analysis. However, we now have separate conduction loss elements,  $R_{SSL}$  and  $R_{FSL}$ , that have been derived in two different switching frequency extremes. While charge flow analysis greatly simplifies the analyses of each loss mechanism, we must utilize a method of integrating them into the loss model while still accurately capturing their impact on the overall converter efficiency regardless of the switching frequency as it is unlikely and impractical to assume the converter would operate entirely in one or the other of these two extremes in practical applications. As discussed in [26], there are many estimation techniques to accomplish this with the direct linear summation being one of the more conservative methods [24, 27] and the empirically derived summation in quadrature form [3, 28] which provides better accuracy:

$$R_O \approx \sqrt{(R_{SSL})^2 + (R_{FSL})^2}.$$
 (2.11)



Figure 2.11. Combining  $R_{SSL}$  and  $R_{FSL}$  into a single  $R_O$  for a switched-capacitor converter.

The work in [29] shows that even more accuracy can be obtained by using a Minkowski distance form of (2.11). For this work, equation (2.11) will be used since it provides reasonable accuracy in a concise analytical expression. Figure 2.11 illustrates this method of combing the  $R_{SSL}$  and  $R_{FSL}$  into a composite  $R_O$  from equation (2.11) including a plot of the magnitude of all three resistances versus frequency. The plot shows the  $R_{SSL}$  resistance forms an asymptote that is inversely proportional with frequency (red curve) while the  $R_{FSL}$  resistance forms a horizontal asymptote (blue curve) that is independent of frequency since it is only dependent on resistances present in the charging or discharging paths (i.e. switch resistance, capacitor ESRs, etc). The resulting  $R_O$  approximation from (2.11) is also plotted (green curve) showing that it closely emulates the dominance of SSL losses at low frequencies and the dominance of FSL losses at high frequencies.

A plot of the calculated and simulated output resistances versus switching frequency for an example 2:1 SC converter is shown in Figure 2.12 to illustrate the accuracy of (2.11). It should be noted the plot also implies that there is an optimal maximum  $f_S$  in the region where  $R_O$  transitions from SSL to FSL (~15MHz in this example) where there is no longer any further



Figure 2.12. Calculated vs. Simulated  $R_O$  for an example 2:1 switched-capacitor converter.

reduction in  $R_O$  with increasing  $f_S$  as it is  $R_{FSL}$  limited. In a practical implementation, the converter would only incur additional switching losses with further increases in  $f_S$  beyond this point.

## 2.3 Analysis Example: Switched-Inductor Converters

While charge flow analysis is commonly applied to simplify the analysis of SC converters, it can also be readily applied to facilitate the steady-state analysis of SI converters as an alternative to the volt-sec balance based approach covered in [23]. As an example, Figure 2.13 shows a conventional pulse width modulation (PWM) controlled 2-level buck converter and its corresponding charge flows for each state assuming continuous conduction mode operation [23] while conducting some non-zero DC load current. It is also assumed the converter  $f_S$  is high enough such that the inductor current appears to be nearly constant (i.e. small ripple approximation). This assumption makes it quite simple to calculate the equivalent charge flows for each state and is similar to the FSL scenario of a SC converter described in 2.2. The primary difference here being the duty cycle is no longer assumed to be fixed at 0.5 since it would be varied by means of PWM to set the output voltage. As shown in Figure 2.13, the charge processed by the inductor in states A and B are

$$q_L^A = I_L D T_S$$
$$q_L^B = I_L (1 - D) T_S$$

where  $I_L$  is the DC value of the inductor current, which is equivalent to the DC output current in this example. The total input and output charges over a switching period are then

$$q_{IN} = q_{IN}^A + q_{IN}^B = q_L^A + 0 = I_L DT_S$$

$$q_O = q_O^A + q_O^B = q_L^A + q_L^B = I_L DT_S + I_L (1 - D)T_S = I_L T_S$$
(2.12)

resulting in an ideal VCR of

$$M = \frac{q_{IN}}{q_O} = \frac{I_L D T_S}{I_L T_S} = D \tag{2.13}$$

which is equivalent to the results obtained from the volt-sec balance approach.

Since there are no hard charge capacitive losses in this example, we only need to develop an expression for the power losses associated with the power switches in the same manner as the FSL switch losses of the SC converter example in Section 2.2. As shown in Figure 2.14, the energy losses of each switch are

$$E_{SW1} = (I_L)^2 R_{ON1} DT_S (2.14)$$



Figure 2.13. Operating states and charge flows analysis 2-level buck converter.

$$E_{SW2} = (I_L)^2 R_{ON2} (1 - D) T_S$$
(2.15)

where  $R_{ON1}$  and  $R_{ON2}$  are the on-resistances for SW1 and SW2, respectively. The resulting total conduction power loss for the switches is

$$P_{LOSS} = \frac{E_{SW1} + E_{SW2}}{T_S} = (I_L)^2 [R_{ON1}D + R_{ON2}(1-D)].$$
(2.16)

It should be noted that for this simple converter example, the switch energy loss expressions (2.14) and (2.15) could be readily derived by inspection without the intermediate relations back to charge shown in Figure 2.14 since the switch currents are solely determined by the inductor current, but have been included here since this relation of inductor current and equivalent charge will be revisited in the loss modeling presented in Chapters 3 and 4.

To find the equivalent  $R_O$  for the loss model, we can simply equate (2.16) to the conduction loss expression (2.6) from the ideal transform model and solve for  $R_O$  as illustrated in



Figure 2.14. Charge flows and switch power losses for a 2-level buck converter.

Figure 2.15 resulting in

$$R_O = R_{ON1}D + R_{ON2}(1-D).$$
(2.17)

Note that  $I_L = I_O$  in this example which is also implied by (2.12). As can be seen in (2.17), each switch loss term is scaled dependent on the duty cycle value where the  $R_{ON1}$  related losses increase at higher duty cycles while the  $R_{ON2}$  related losses decrease and vice versa for decreasing duty cycles. This intuitively makes sense since the longer a particular switch is on then the more time it spends conducting the output current and dissipates energy.

To corroborate the accuracy of (2.17), Figure 2.16 shows the calculated and simulated  $R_O$  for an example 2-level buck where the switch on-resistances have been set to unequal values to help illustrate their influences. As can be seen, the output resistance increases with increasing duty cycle due to SW1's higher on-resistance. The charge flow and loss modeling techniques presented here and in Section 2.2 will be extended and applied to the hybrid converters discussed in Chapters 3 and 4.



Figure 2.15. Finding  $R_O$  from the switch power losses for a 2-level buck converter.



Figure 2.16. Calculated vs. Simulated  $R_O$  for a 2-level buck converter.

## Chapter 3

# A Flying Inductor Hybrid Converter for 1-Cell and 2-Cell Battery Chargers

## 3.1 Background and Motivation

The feature count and performance of consumer mobile products have been increasing each year while their form factors continue to shrink. This annual increase in feature and performance densities has driven the need for higher-capacity batteries and thus battery charger solutions with higher power delivery capacity to maintain the trend of reduced charge times. The USB-C power-delivery (PD) specification [1] was developed to meet these higher demands by providing a programmable  $V_{BUS}$  voltage range of 5V to 20V with up to 100W of power delivery which serves as the input source for the battery charger. These higher voltage settings also minimize input current levels and associated IR drops across the USB-C cable, preserving overall system efficiency while charging at these higher power levels. In order to take advantage of the benefits of USB-C power delivery for 1-cell (1S) and 2-cell series stack (2S) batteries found in many mobile phones and laptops, the DC-DC converter used for the charging solution needs to be efficient in both board space and power in order to meet product form-factor and on-board thermal management constraints.

While the traditional buck converter [30] has been a ubiquitous charger solution for most consumer products, recent hybrid step-down converter topologies that leverage the combinations of inductive pulse width modulation (PWM), switched capacitor (SC), and/or resonant operation

[9, 12, 13, 31–33] have presented themselves as potential candidates for these applications. However, similar to buck converters, these hybrid architectures require an inductor unfavorably located at the output side of the converter while the output current demand keeps increasing for faster charging. This necessitates an inductor with low DCR to minimize conduction losses and a high saturation current to ensure sufficient inductance is provided at full load; both of which imply larger component size. As is illustrated in Fig. 3.1, the DCR of compact surface-mount inductors of same value trends to an exponential increase as component volume shrinks. A similar undesirable trend can be found with saturation current ratings that diminishes dramatically with volume decrease. To address this challenge, multi-phase buck converters have been a viable option by dividing the total load current between multiple smaller inductors [34, 35]. Unfortunately, this solution increases the quantity of relatively expensive magnetic components required and the exponential increase in DCR of the smaller footprint inductors can still contribute significant conduction losses since the inductors process the full output current. In addition, any losses incurred by the inductor(s) for these solutions will generate heat within the product and further exacerbate the thermal management challenges in small form-factor designs.

To overcome this drawback of the conventional buck-like converters, it would be advantageous to utilize a topology that relocates the inductor to the lower-current input side while still achieving efficient step-down functionality with a continuous output voltage range. Doing so scales down the average current through the inductor by the converter step down ratio (M) resulting in a reduction in conduction losses in the inductor by a factor of  $M^2$ , simultaneously easing saturation current and DCR requirements for the inductor. Furthermore, moving the inductor to the input opens the possibility of utilizing the parasitic inductance of an input USB cable to replace the discrete inductor, completely removing the most bulky component from within the product and distributing its associated heat loss across the length of the cable. The concept of moving the inductor to the input has been explored in [36–40] with [36] demonstrating that the



Figure 3.1. Survey of DCR vs. component volume for commercially available  $1\mu$ H surface-mount inductors.

USB cable can be used to replace the role of the on-board inductor. However, the topologies proposed in these works do not provide conversion ratios or operating ranges suitable for 1S charging applications while taking advantage of the higher  $V_{BUS}$  settings enabled by the USB-C PD specification.

In this chapter, we present a new hybrid converter topology that not only moves the inductor to the lower current input side, but also provides the conversion ratios needed to support



**Figure 3.2.** (a) Power stage of the proposed converter. (b) Operating phases and current flow when  $V_{O1}$  is loaded.



**Figure 3.3.** (a) Ideal switching waveforms. (b) Operating phases and current flow when  $V_{O2}$  is loaded.

1S and 2S voltage ranges while operating from the higher 9V  $V_{BUS}$  setting offered by USB-C PD [41]; providing a single converter solution for multiple charging applications. In Section 3.2, the fundamental operation of the power stage and the resulting conversion ratios for the multiple output paths will be discussed. A detailed loss analysis of the converter is then provided in Section 3.3. Implementation details of the converter prototype and critical sub-blocks are covered in Section 3.5. The measured performance of the fabricated prototype is reported in Section 3.6 with a discrete on-board inductor as well as with the inductor replaced by an off-the-shelf USB cable. Finally, in Section 3.7 we conclude the chapter with a brief summary of the salient points of this work.

## **3.2** Power Stage Topology and Operation

Figure 3.2a shows the power stage of the proposed converter. It consists of an input inductor, L, that directly feeds current into a SC network while providing partial soft charging benefits [9, 42]. The SC network is comprised of two flying capacitors,  $C_{F1}$  and  $C_{F2}$ , and six switches (SW1-SW6). NMOS switches, SW1 through SW5, form the main power stage of the converter while a small PMOS switch, SW6, is used to source a small amount of charge to  $C_{O3}$  which is used to power internal circuitry (to be discussed in Section 3.5).  $V_{O1}$  and  $V_{O2}$  are the

main outputs intended for 1S and 2S battery loads, respectively. Figure 3.2a illustrates the  $V_{O1}$  loaded case.

Output voltage regulation is accomplished by duty cycle control in a two-phase operation. The two operating phases,  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$ , for the V<sub>O1</sub> loaded configuration are shown in Fig. 3.2b. The respective ideal timing waveforms are shown in Fig. 3.3a. During  $\phi_1$ , the inductor is connected between V<sub>IN</sub> and V<sub>O2</sub>, where V<sub>O2</sub> is lower than V<sub>IN</sub>, allowing the inductor current to ramp up at a rate of

$$\frac{di_L}{dt} = \frac{V_{IN} - V_{O2}}{L} \tag{3.1}$$

During this phase,  $C_{O2}$  receives charge from the inductor current and  $C_{F1}$  while  $C_{F2}$  discharges into  $V_{O1}$ . During  $\phi_2$ , the inductor is connected between  $V_{IN}$  and  $V_{O3}$ , where  $V_{O3}$  is higher than  $V_{IN}$ , allowing the inductor current to ramp down at a rate of

$$\frac{di_L}{dt} = \frac{V_{IN} - V_{O3}}{L} \tag{3.2}$$

During this time,  $C_{F1}$  is soft charged by the inductor current and passes charge to  $V_{O1}$  while  $C_{O2}$  charges  $C_{F2}$  and also passes charge to  $V_{O1}$ . SW6 is also on during this phase to draw a small amount of charge to  $C_{O3}$  to power internal circuitry. Since SW6 is small, it does not affect the soft-charging operation for  $C_{F1}$ . The soft charging and hard discharging behavior of  $C_{F1}$  is illustrated in Fig. 3.4. Inserting a dead-time between phases also allows the parasitic capacitances  $C_{P1}$ ,  $C_{P2}$ , and  $C_{P3}$  to be soft charged by the inductor current during the  $\phi_1$ -to- $\phi_2$  transition, providing partial soft switching benefits to the converter.

As shown in Fig. 3.3a, the inductor is always tied to the top plate of  $C_{F1}$  and flies between the  $V_{O2}$  and  $V_{O3}$  nodes, hence the name Flying-Inductor Hybrid (FIH) DC-DC Converter. Performing volt-sec balance analysis on the inductor yields the following conversion ratios for each output path

$$M_1 = \frac{V_{O1}}{V_{IN}} = \frac{1}{3 - D}$$
(3.3)



Figure 3.4. Soft charging and hard discharging waveforms of  $C_{F1}$ .

$$M_2 = \frac{V_{O2}}{V_{IN}} = \frac{2}{3 - D} \tag{3.4}$$

$$M_3 = \frac{V_{O3}}{V_{IN}} = \frac{3}{3 - D} \tag{3.5}$$

where *D* is the duty cycle of SW1, SW3, and SW5. Evaluating equations (3.3), (3.4), and (3.5) across duty cycle, it can be seen that the two main output power paths through  $V_{O1}$  and  $V_{O2}$  provide step-down conversions while the  $V_{O3}$  path provides a step-up conversion. Expressions (3.4), (3.5) and (3.3) shows that  $M_2$  and  $M_3$  are integer multiples of  $M_1$ , implying that the nominal  $V_{O2}$  and  $V_{O3}$  voltages are two and three times the unloaded  $V_{O1}$  voltage, respectively. This also results in the maximum blocking voltage needed for each switch to be equal to  $V_{O1}$ , enabling the potential use of low-voltage switches, e.g. 5V, rather than high voltage devices to save die area and minimize switching and conduction losses.

The V<sub>O2</sub> loaded scenario is shown in Fig. 3.3b. The operation is primarily the same as the V<sub>O1</sub> loaded case except that the charge flow processing of C<sub>F2</sub> is different. As highlighted in green in Fig. 3.3b, during  $\phi_1$  C<sub>F2</sub> is now charged by C<sub>O1</sub>. During  $\phi_2$ , the inductor current now partially soft discharges C<sub>F2</sub> while passing charge to the load. This is not a complete soft discharge due to the voltage mismatches between  $V_{O1} + V_{C_{F2}}$  and  $V_{O2}$  similar to what was discussed in [12, 43].

From (3.1) and (3.4), the peak-to-peak inductor current ripple can be found to be

$$\Delta i_{L-hybrid} = \frac{DV_{IN}(1-M_2)}{Lf_S}$$
(3.6)

where  $f_S$  is the switching frequency of the converter. From Fig. 3.3a and (3.6), two interesting observations can be made for the proposed topology:

1. The input current is continuous (similar to a boost converter) unlike a buck converter that exhibits high di/dt due to discontinuities of pulsed input current. This characteristic of the

proposed hybrid converter promises advantages of low conducted EMI noise and minimal input filter similar to a boost converter while supporting a step-down functionality of a buck converter.

2. For the same inductance value and switching frequency  $f_S$ , the proposed converter exhibits significantly less peak-to-peak inductor current ripple over the conventional buck converter for the conversion ratios needed for 1S charging from a 9V input. To illustrate this, we first re-arrange (3.6) in terms of conversion ratio M

$$\Delta i_{L-hybrid} = \frac{V_{IN} (3M-1) (1-2M)}{ML f_S}$$
(3.7)

where M is the conversion ratio needed to provide a 1S output voltage range from a 9V input. Similarly, the inductor current ripple for a conventional buck can be expressed as

$$\Delta i_{L-buck} = \frac{V_{IN}M(1-M)}{Lf_S}.$$
(3.8)

By taking the ratio of (3.7) over (3.8) we have

$$\frac{\Delta i_{L-hybrid}}{\Delta i_{L-buck}} = \frac{(3M-1)(1-2M)}{M^2(1-M)}$$
(3.9)

A plot of (3.9) versus conversion ratio, M, is shown in Fig. 3.5 where it can be seen that at least a 2.4x reduction in current ripple is achievable over the necessary conversion ratios for 1S charging. For a discrete inductor implementation, this implies less magnetic AC losses and further reductions of the inductor overall RMS current.

## 3.3 Loss Analysis

In integrated power converter design, loss analysis is crucial to exposing the converter characteristics and giving insights to guide integrated circuit design. Therefore, this section



**Figure 3.5.** Inductor current ripple ratio of the proposed FIH Converter to buck converter versus conversion ratios necessary for 1S charging from a 9V input.

of the chapter is dedicated to analyzing key loss components and the output resistance of the proposed FIH converter, applying a similar method detailed in [3] with unique operations of the proposed converter. The converter design optimization using this loss analysis, however, is out of the scope of this chapter and will be presented in another suitable publication.

As described in Section 2.1 and [23], a DC-DC converter can be modeled as an ideal DC transformer whose turns ratio, M, is equal to the ideal conversion ratio of the converter as shown in Fig. 2.1. Since the proposed topology exhibits both soft charging and hard charging characteristics, these must be accounted for in the loss analysis. The output resistance,  $R_O$ , represents the output current dependent conduction losses of the converter which can be approximated as

$$R_O \approx \sqrt{(R_{SSL})^2 + (R_{FSL})^2} \tag{3.10}$$

where  $R_{SSL}$  is the slow-switching limit (SSL) resistance which represents the conduction losses due to hard charge induced capacitor voltage ripple and  $R_{FSL}$  is the fast-switching limit (FSL) which represents the conduction losses due to switch on-resistances and the parasitic equivalent



Figure 3.6. Charge flows for  $V_{O1}$  loaded case. Differences of charge flows for  $V_{O2}$  loaded case are in green text.

series resistances (ESR) of the reactive elements [3]. Parasitic layout resistances can also be accounted for by adding them to the appropriate component resistances. A charge flow based analysis can be applied to estimate the contributions of each of these loss mechanisms to the equivalent output resistance of the converter [3,44]. Switching losses associated with the switch gate charge losses and switching node capacitance losses can also be approximated and summed with the conduction losses to estimate the overall efficiency of the converter.

Note that since the main power stage consists only of SW1 to SW5 and the two flying capacitors, SW6 and  $C_{O3}$  have been omitted from the following loss analysis as their loss contributions are negligible.

#### 3.3.1 SSL Resistance Contributions, V<sub>01</sub> Loaded

The charge flows for the V<sub>O1</sub> loaded case are shown in Fig. 3.6 in black text. To facilitate the  $R_{SSL}$  analysis, it is assumed that the inductor and output capacitors are of large value and the inductor behaves as a current source in both phases. With this assumption, the input charges  $q_{IN}^1$  and  $q_{IN}^2$ , are defined as

$$q_{IN}^1 = I_{IN} DT_S \tag{3.11}$$

$$q_{IN}^2 = I_{IN} D' T_S \tag{3.12}$$

where the superscripts in  $q_{IN}^1$  and  $q_{IN}^2$  indicate the operating phases,  $I_{IN}$  is the inductor current, D' = 1 - D, and  $T_S$  is the switching period. Analyzing the loss contribution of  $C_{F1}$  first, it can be seen that  $C_{F1}$  is soft-charged with a charge of  $q_{IN}^2$  during  $\phi_2$  and hard discharges that same charge in  $\phi_1$  as illustrated in Fig. 3.4. This results in a voltage ripple across  $C_{F1}$  equal to

$$\Delta V_{C_{F1}} = \frac{q_{IN}^2}{C_{F1}}.$$
(3.13)

Since  $C_{F1}$  is softly charged during  $\phi_2$  as described in Section 3.2, its power loss is

$$P_{loss,C_{F1},V_{O1}} = \frac{1}{2} C_{F1} (\Delta V_{C_{F1}})^2 f_s = \frac{(I_{IN}D')^2}{2C_{F1}f_s}$$
(3.14)

where the  $\frac{1}{2}$  factor in (3.14) accounts for the soft charging behavior.

Similarly,  $C_{F2}$  is charged with  $q_{IN}^1 + q_{IN}^2$  during  $\phi_2$  and discharges that same charge during  $\phi_1$  resulting in a voltage ripple across  $C_{F2}$  equal to

$$\Delta V_{C_{F2}} = \frac{q_{IN}^1 + q_{IN}^2}{C_{F2}}.$$
(3.15)

Since in both phases this charge transferral occurs as a hard charge/discharge, the power loss associated with  $C_{F2}$  is

$$P_{loss,C_{F2},V_{O1}} = C_{F2} (\Delta V_{C_{F2}})^2 f_S = \frac{(I_{IN})^2}{C_{F2} f_S}.$$
(3.16)

Therefore, the total  $R_{SSL}$  loss for the V<sub>O1</sub> loaded case is

$$P_{SSL,V_{O1}} = \frac{(I_{IN}D')^2}{2C_{F1}f_s} + \frac{(I_{IN})^2}{C_{F2}f_s}.$$
(3.17)

Path	$a_{sw_1}$	$a_{sw_2}$	$a_{sw_3}$	$a_{sw_4}$	$a_{sw_5}$
V <sub>01</sub>	$(M_1)^2 \frac{(2-D)^2}{D}$	$(M_1)^2 \frac{(2-D)^2}{D'}$	$(M_1)^2 \frac{1}{D}$	$(M_1)^2 \frac{1}{D'}$	$(M_1)^2 \frac{1}{D}$
V <sub>O2</sub>	$(M_1)^2 \frac{(D')^2}{D}$	$(M_1)^2 D'$	$(M_1)^2 \frac{(D')^2}{D}$	$(M_1)^2 D'$	$(M_2)^2 \frac{1}{D}$

**(a)** 

Path	$a_{esr_1}$	$a_{esr_2}$	$a_{dcr}$				
V <sub>01</sub>	$(M_1)^2 (D')^2 \left(\frac{1}{D} + \frac{1}{D'}\right)$	$(M_1)^2 \left(\frac{1}{D} + \frac{1}{D'}\right)$	$(M_1)^2$				
V <sub>O2</sub>	$(M_2)^2 (D')^2 \left(\frac{1}{D} + \frac{1}{D'}\right)$	$(M_1)^2 (D')^2 \left(\frac{1}{D} + \frac{1}{D'}\right)$	$(M_2)^2$				
(b)							

**Figure 3.7.** (a) FSL scale factors for each switch. (b) FSL scale factors for flying capacitor ESRs and inductor DCR.

From the ideal DC transformer model, we know that

$$I_{IN} = M_1 I_O \tag{3.18}$$

and substituting  $R_O$  with  $R_{SSL-V_{O1}}$  that

$$P_{SSL,V_{O1}} = (I_O)^2 R_{SSL-V_{O1}}.$$
(3.19)

Substituting (3.18) into (3.17), equating (3.17) to (3.19), and solving for  $R_{SSL-V_{O1}}$ , the output resistance contribution of the flying capacitors when V<sub>O1</sub> is loaded is

$$R_{SSL,V_{O1}} = \frac{(M_1)^2}{f_s} \left(\frac{(D')^2}{2C_{F1}} + \frac{1}{C_{F2}}\right).$$
(3.20)

#### **3.3.2 FSL Resistance Contributions, V<sub>01</sub> Loaded**

Again using the charge flows annotated in black text in Fig. 3.6, the FSL contributions of the switch on-resistances, inductor DCR, and flying capacitors ESRs can be estimated. For this analysis, output capacitors  $C_{O1}$  and  $C_{O2}$  are assumed large and their ESR contributions are negligible. The inductor current ripple is again assumed small and the inductor is modeled as a current source.



Figure 3.8. Output resistance vs. duty cycle for an example converter.

Turning to the switch loss contributions first, the energy loss of each switch is

$$E_{loss,sw_i} = (I_{sw_i})^2 R_{on_i} \Delta t_i \tag{3.21}$$

where  $I_{sw_i}$  is the current flowing through SW<sub>i</sub> while it is on,  $R_{on_i}$  is the on-resistance of SW<sub>i</sub>, and  $\Delta t_i$  is the time duration that SW<sub>i</sub> is on. In FSL operation  $I_{sw_i}$  can be approximated as a constant current [45]. Therefore, the current through SW<sub>i</sub> is

$$I_{sw_i} = \frac{q_{sw_i}}{\Delta t_i} \tag{3.22}$$

where  $q_{sw_i}$  is the charge processed by SW<sub>i</sub>. Substituting (3.22) into (3.21) and multiplying by  $f_S$ , the power loss associated with SW<sub>i</sub> is

$$P_{loss,sw_i} = \left(\frac{q_{sw_i}}{\Delta t_i}\right)^2 R_{on_i} \Delta t_i f_S = \frac{(q_{sw_i})^2}{\Delta t_i} R_{on_i} f_S$$
(3.23)

For example, in the case of SW1, a total charge of  $q_{sw1} = q_{IN}^1 + 2q_{IN}^2$  is processed by the switch and the switch is on for  $\Delta t_i = DT_S$  amount of time where  $q_{IN}^1$  and  $q_{IN}^2$  are defined by (3.11) and (3.12) respectively.

The same analysis can be repeated to calculate the losses of the capacitor ESRs, but taking into account that the ESRs process their respective flying capacitor charges in both phases. It can then be shown that their loss contributions are

$$P_{loss,ESR_1} = (q_{IN}^2)^2 (f_S)^2 ESR_1 \left(\frac{1}{D} + \frac{1}{D'}\right)$$
(3.24)

$$P_{loss,ESR_2} = (q_{IN}^1 + q_{IN}^2)^2 (f_S)^2 ESR_2 \left(\frac{1}{D} + \frac{1}{D'}\right)$$
(3.25)

where  $ESR_1$  and  $ESR_2$  are the ESRs of  $C_{F1}$  and  $C_{F2}$  respectively at the switching frequency.

Since the inductor DCR ( $L_{DCR}$ ) always processes the inductor current charge, its loss contribution is simply

$$P_{loss,L_{DCR}} = (I_{IN})^2 L_{DCR}$$
(3.26)

Summing together (3.23), (3.24), (3.25), and (3.26) provides the total FSL power loss for the  $V_{01}$  loaded case.

$$P_{FSL,V_{O1}} = \sum_{i=1}^{5} P_{loss,sw_i} + \sum_{k=1}^{2} P_{loss,ESR_k} + P_{loss,L_{DCR}}$$
(3.27)

Also, from the ideal transformer model and substituting  $R_O$  with  $R_{FSL,V_{O1}}$ ,

$$P_{FSL,V_{O1}} = (I_O)^2 R_{FSL,V_{O1}}$$
(3.28)

Equating (3.27) and (3.28), substituting in (3.11), (3.12), and (3.18), and solving for  $R_{FSL,V_{O1}}$  yield the total FSL power loss as

$$R_{FSL,V_{O1}} = \sum_{i=1}^{5} a_{sw_i} R_{on_i} + \sum_{k=1}^{2} a_{esr_k} ESR_k + a_{dcr} L_{DCR}$$
(3.29)

where  $a_{sw_i}$ ,  $a_{esr_k}$ , and  $a_{dcr}$  are duty-cycle-dependent scale factors for each output-referred

resistive loss element. The values of each scale factor are summarized in Tables 3.7a and 3.7b.

#### 3.3.3 SSL & FSL Resistance Contributions, V<sub>O2</sub> Loaded

The same charge flow analysis can be repeated for the  $V_{O2}$  loaded scenario. However, the differences in charge flow from the  $V_{O1}$  loaded configuration should be accounted for which are illustrated in green text in Fig. 3.6. Note that the analysis also omits any partial hard discharging of  $C_{F2}$  due to voltage mismatches between  $V_{O1} + V_{CF2}$  and  $V_{O2}$ , which only has a minor impact on efficiency for this application. With this assumption, the output resistance contribution of the flying capacitors when  $V_{O2}$  is loaded can be calculated as

$$R_{SSL,V_{O2}} = \frac{(M_2)^2 (D')^2}{2f_S} \left(\frac{1}{C_{F1}} + \frac{1}{4C_{F2}}\right).$$
(3.30)

The FSL resistance,  $R_{FSL,V_{O2}}$ , for the V<sub>O2</sub> loaded case has the same expression as (3.29) with different scale factors that are summarized in Tables 3.7a and 3.7b. Combining SSL and FSL resistances in (3.10) yields the output resistance.

#### **3.3.4** Output Resistance Dependency on Duty Cycle

Constructing the output resistances for the  $V_{O1}$  loaded and  $V_{O2}$  loaded cases with equations (3.10), (3.20), (3.29), (3.30) using results in Tables 3.7a and 3.7b, it can be seen that the output resistances for both  $V_{O1}$  and  $V_{O2}$  loaded cases are dependent on duty cycle and the converter operating point, i.e. conversion ratio. This duty cycle dependency is a unique characteristic of this hybrid converter. It agrees with the utilization of the inductor in the converter, while being different from the analytical result for the SC converters in [3] using a similar approach of charge-based analysis.

To illustrate this phenomenon and the differences in effective output resistance for each output path, the relationship between output resistance and duty cycle for an example converter is plotted in Fig. 3.8.

## 3.4 Optimization Methodology

Having expressions for the loss mechanisms provides the opportunity to optimize the converter design in terms of power efficiency with minimal area. For this work, a Lagrange multiplier based optimization similar to [46] was utilized for the  $V_{O1}$  loaded path with a target output of 3.6V and 5A.

#### 3.4.1 Optimal Flying Capacitor Values

To find expressions for the optimal flying capacitor values for a given area, we first define the function we want to minimize as (3.20). A constraint expression in terms of area budget for the flying capacitors can be defined as

$$A_{C,tot} = \sum_{k=1}^{2} A_{C_k} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{2} \frac{C_{Fk} V_{rk}^2}{m_{ck}}$$
(3.31)

where  $A_{C_k}$  is the total area allowed for flying capacitor  $C_{Fk}$ ,  $V_{rk}$  is the voltage rating for capacitor  $C_{Fk}$ , and  $m_{ck}$  is the energy storage density capability of the capacitor technology used for  $C_{Fk}$ . Setting (3.31) to zero and inserting it along with (3.20) into the Lagrange optimization equation results in

$$\mathscr{L} = \frac{M_1^2 (D')^2}{2f_S} \frac{1}{C_{F1}} + \frac{M_1^2}{f_S} \frac{1}{C_{F2}} + \lambda \left( \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^2 \frac{C_{Fk} V_{rk}^2}{m_{ck}} - A_{C,tot} \right).$$
(3.32)

Setting the partial derivatives of (3.32) with respect to  $C_{F1}$ ,  $C_{F2}$ , and  $\lambda$  to zero, and then solving the resulting system of equations results in the expressions for the optimal flying capacitor values for a given area.

$$C_{F1,opt} = \frac{D'}{V_{r1}} \frac{2A_{C,tot}\sqrt{m_{c1}}}{\frac{D'V_{r1}}{\sqrt{m_{c1}}} + \frac{\sqrt{2}V_{r2}}{\sqrt{m_{c2}}}}$$
(3.33)

$$C_{F2,opt} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{V_{r2}} \frac{2A_{C,tot}\sqrt{m_{c2}}}{\frac{D'V_{r1}}{\sqrt{m_{c1}}} + \frac{\sqrt{2}V_{r2}}{\sqrt{m_{c2}}}}$$
(3.34)

#### 3.4.2 Optimal Power Switch Sizes

To find expressions for the optimal switch sizes, we define the function to be minimized as

$$R_{FSL-V_{O1}} = \sum_{i=1}^{5} a_{sw_i} R_{on_i}.$$
(3.35)

A constraint expression in terms of switch area budget can be defined as

$$A_{sw,tot} = \sum_{i=1}^{5} \frac{G_{sw_i} V_{r,sw_i}^2}{m_{sw_i}}$$
(3.36)

where  $G_{sw_i}$  is the conductance for SWi and  $m_{sw_i}$  is the V-A product density for SWi. Inserting (3.35) and (3.36) into the Lagrange expression yields

$$\mathscr{L} = \sum_{i=1}^{5} \frac{a_{sw_i}}{G_{sw_i}} + \lambda \left( \sum_{i=1}^{5} \frac{G_{sw_i} V_{r,sw_i}^2}{m_{sw_i}} - A_{sw,tot} \right).$$
(3.37)

Setting the partial derivatives of (3.37) with respect to  $G_{sw_i}$  and  $\lambda$  to zero and solving the resulting system of equations provides the optimal switch conductances for a given area.

$$G_{sw_i,opt} = \frac{A_{sw,tot}}{\sum_{i=1}^{5} \left(\frac{\sqrt{a_{sw_i}}V_{r,sw_i}}{\sqrt{m_{sw_i}}}\right)} \frac{\sqrt{a_{sw_i}m_{sw_i}}}{V_{r,sw_i}}$$
(3.38)

#### 3.4.3 Optimization Process & Results

The optimal flying capacitor values for a target area budget can be found by making use of (3.33) and (3.34). For this implementation, an initial target area for the flying capacitors was approximately equivalent to the areas of a single 0603 component and single a 0402 component. The estimated capacitance values for these capacitors after DC bias derating were approximately  $3\mu$ F. The resulting optimal capacitor values were  $1.5\mu$ F for  $C_{F1}$  and  $7.8\mu$ F for  $C_{F2}$ . However, since the capacitors are external to the chip the nearest value discrete capacitor that provides a biased value greater than or equal to the optimal value would need to be used. There would



Figure 3.9. FIH power stage with switching node parasitic capacitors.

also be a compromise in the resolution of available case sizes to meet the optimal values so the initial capacitor area used in the optimization should only be considered an initial first pass approximation.

Fig. 3.9 shows the power stage with the parasitic flying node capacitances. Since each switching node has a voltage swing approximately equal to  $V_{O1}$ , the switching losses for the power stage can be estimated as

$$P_{SW} = f_S \left( \sum_{i=1}^5 C_{gg_i} (V_{GS_i})^2 + \frac{(V_{O1})^2}{2} (C_{P1} + C_{P2} + C_{P3}) \right)$$
(3.39)

where  $C_{gg_i}$  and  $V_{GS_i}$  are the equivalent gate capacitance and gate-to-source voltage swing for SWi, respectively. Equation (3.39) neglects the gate charge loss related to SW6 since its size is negligible compared to the main power switches. It should also be noted that the factor of  $\frac{1}{2}$  in (3.39) is from the assumption that there is enough dead-time between  $\phi_1$ -to- $\phi_2$  transition for the parasitic capacitances  $C_{P1}$ ,  $C_{P2}$ , and  $C_{P3}$  to be soft charged by the inductor current.

After finding the capacitor values, the optimal switch sizes/area and switching frequency



Figure 3.10. Contour plot of power efficiency optimization.

were found by employing (3.38), (3.39), and the loss model discussed in Section 3.3. The switch area and switching frequency were swept while calculating the estimated efficiency at each step and then identifying the global maxima efficiency value and corresponding switch area and switching frequency. A contour plot of the optimization with curves of constant efficiency and the annotated optimal sizing/operating point are shown in Fig. 3.10.

## **3.5 Implementation Details**

The loss analysis details and insights above were used to guide the design of a converter prototype [41]. The system block diagram for the converter prototype is shown in Fig. 3.11 which is drawn assuming the  $V_{O1}$  loaded scenario. For this initial prototype, a voltage mode control feedback loop was realized with an integrated OTA-based error amplifier (EA). A programming register was provided to allow optimization of switching frequency and dead-times during verification testing. A commercial version of the converter would require additional



Figure 3.11. System block diagram of prototype converter.

support circuitry for converter start-up. However, for this initial prototype, external circuitry was employed to ensure proper start-up.

This section covers design details of key circuits and sub-blocks, including: 1) control signal routing and gate drivers, 2) gate signal level shifters, 3) a frequency generator, 4) a pulse width modulator with duty cycle limits to ensure robust operations of the power stage at minimum and maximum duty cycle extremes, and 5) non-overlapping clock generators. The error amplifier employs a standard folded-cascode structure as described in [47] and thus is not included in this chapter.

#### 3.5.1 Control Signal Routing & Gate Drivers

The general control routing scheme for the power stage control is illustrated in Fig. 3.12. The design leverages the output voltages,  $V_{O1}$ ,  $V_{O2}$ , and  $V_{O3}$ , generated by the converter to ensure power switch operation within the 5V gate oxide ratings for the majority of the power switches.



Figure 3.12. Control signal routing for power stage.

The gate drive signals G1, G3, G5, and G6 for switches SW1, SW3, SW5, and SW6, respectively, can be a version of  $\phi_1$  or  $\phi_2$  in V<sub>O1</sub>-to-0V, V<sub>O2</sub>-to-V<sub>O1</sub>, or V<sub>O3</sub>-to-V<sub>O2</sub> voltage domains taken directly from the level shifter outputs. Different from the other switches, SW2 and SW4 are unique in that they require their gate signals, G2 and G4, to cross two voltage domains, i.e. V<sub>O2</sub> to 0V or V<sub>O3</sub> to V<sub>O1</sub>. In order to meet these signal ranges while not exceeding the device gate oxide rating, independently-controlled push-pull gate driver stages are utilized with a dedicated non-overlap signal generator to minimize shoot-through currents. Tuned delay blocks were also added to the shortest control signal paths to minimize signal skew between the various control signal paths.

#### **3.5.2** Level Shifters

In order to provide the gate signals between different voltage domains described in Section 3.5.1 above, two varieties of level shifters whose schematics are shown in Fig. 3.13 are used. The core topologies for both level shifters are based on a cascode structure that feeds into a latch in a higher voltage domain, similar to the one reported in [48]. The latch is implemented using cross-coupled full CMOS inverters to ensure rail-to-rail signal swings at the level shifter outputs. To reduce latency while keeping the level shifter area small, MIM capacitors were used



Figure 3.13. Single and dual level shifter schematics.

to couple signals between the different voltage domains. The NMOS devices in the latch were made weak to prevent excessive voltage drop across the MIM capacitors and additional losses during signal transitions. The dual level shifter is an extension of the single level version with the MIM capacitors connected in a stacked configuration across the voltage domains to ensure they operate within their specified voltage ratings, i.e. 5V in this technology.

### **3.5.3 Frequency Generator and Pulse Width Modulator with Duty** Cycle Limits

The schematics of the frequency generator and the pulse width modulator with duty cycle limits are shown in Fig. 3.14. The frequency generator employs a CMOS relaxation oscilator with a casode current source (M4-M5) and a cascode current sink (M0-M1) generate the sawtooth oscillator waveform by charging a tune-able capacitor,  $C_{OSC}$ , through switches M2 and M3 [49]. The cascode current source and sink structures not only reduce variation in the ramp up/down times of the oscillator waveform, but also provide isolation for the NBIAS and PBIAS nodes from any switching noise generated by M2 and M3 for accurate frequency generation. Switches M2 and M3 are controlled by an RS latch that is driven by the outputs of the PCOMP comparators which compare the  $C_{OSC}$  voltage to the BG\_IN and REF\_L voltages and determine the peak-to-peak swing of the oscillator waveform. The waveform is then level
shifted by a source follower stage (M6) to ensure the final output waveform OSC-OUT remains within the optimal input common mode range of the NCOMP comparator and the range of the OTA error amplifier output COMP, i.e. at the top plate of the compensation capacitor shown in Fig. 3.11.

The PWM signal is generated by comparing the error amplifier output COMP with the oscillator output OSC. A duty cycle limiter is added with logic gates U1-U3, an inverter, and a delay block to ensure robust operation of the power stage. The minimum on-time of the modulator, i.e. minimum duty cycle, is generated by the active high one-shot formed by the delay block, inverter, and U2 which is triggered by the RAMP output signal of the oscillator block. The minimum off-time, i.e. maximum duty cycle, is dictated by the values of the current sink and C<sub>OSC</sub> in the oscillator which determine the amount of time the RAMP signal, and thus PWM\_OUT, is low. The duty cycle of PWM\_OUT was designed to be within 5% and 95% to guarantee robust operations for the level shifters and power stages.

The PCOMP and NCOMP blocks consist of cross-coupled hysteretic comparators with push-pull output stages [50]. Their schematics are show in Fig. 3.15.

#### 3.5.4 Non-overlapping Clock Generators

The schematic for the  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$  non-overlapping clock generator is shown in Fig. 3.16. It consists of two logic gates and a programmable delay block. The programmable delay block is implemented with a chain of bypass-able coarse and fine delay sub-blocks that are enabled/disabled with the thermometer encoded control bits CS3-CS0 and FS3-FS0, respectively. The connection scheme allows the delay introduced by each coarse delay sub-block to be extended by the subsequent four fine delay blocks; allowing fine delay step sizes in between each coarse setting. The coarse delay sub-block consists of a set of MOS capacitors (M0-M1), a set of inverters, and an additional MIM capacitor, C<sub>LONG</sub>, that can be inserted in the delay path by the LONG\_EN control bit to further extend delay lengths. The fine delay blocks are similar in design except the MOS capacitors are omitted and the C<sub>LONG</sub> capacitor is of smaller value.



**Figure 3.14.** Schematics of a frequency generator and a pulse width modulator with duty cycle limits.



Figure 3.15. Oscillator and PWM comparator schematics.



**Figure 3.16.**  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$  non-overlapping clock generator schematic.

The delay block is designed for delays up to 5ns in 250ps steps when LONG\_EN is disabled, or to 10ns in 500ps steps when LONG\_EN is enabled. The same non-overlapping clock circuit is used for the generation of the HS\_CTRL and LS\_CTRL signals in Fig. 3.12 except the delay block only consists of the fine delay sub-blocks.

## **3.6 Experimental Verification**

To verify the proposed converter architecture, a prototype was implemented in 7.37mm<sup>2</sup> of a 0.13µm BCD process applying the loss analysis, design insights, and circuit blocks presented above. Figure 3.17 shows the die micrograph with key block annotations. Flip-chip bumping was used to minimize package and PCB parasitics and associated losses. The chip pinout structure shown on the PCB footprint in Fig. 3.17 followed a careful design such that key power paths have short, low-loss access to PCB power traces and the converter could be evaluated on a low-cost PCB fabrication process, i.e. 220µm bump pitch and 3mil minimum spacing.

#### 3.6.1 Performance with a Discrete Inductor

The design was first tested with a discrete  $1\mu$ H inductor with  $5.5m\Omega$  of DCR to characterize the maximum performance of the chip. Two 0603 22 $\mu$ F and four 0402 10 $\mu$ F were



Figure 3.17. Die micrograph and PCB footprint with signal routing.

Component	Details
L	1µH, 5.5mΩ, Coilcraft XFL4030
C <sub>F1</sub>	2 x 22µF, 10V 0603 (6.6µF)
C <sub>F2</sub>	4 x 10µF, 6.3V 0402 (13µF)
C <sub>01</sub>	2 x 22µF, 10V 0603 (15µF)
C <sub>O2</sub>	4 x 22µF, 10V 0603 (12µF)
C <sub>O3</sub>	1 x 22µF, 10V 0603 (7.5µF)

Table 3.1. Key components used for experiments with discrete inductor

used for  $C_{F1}$  and  $C_{F2}$  to meet the recommended values determined in subsection 3.4.3 and to minimize the ESR loss contributions. The capacitors were chosen after an exhaustive search of available off-the-shelf components that have the best compromise of compact size, sufficient voltage ratings, and highest possible capacitance density. Table 3.1 provides a summary of the key components used for testing. The values in parentheses are the estimated effective total capacitances with DC bias. As the results show, the capacitance numbers above are approximately 65%-85% of the nominal unbiased values at normal operating conditions of the converters. It is also worth noting that the self resonant frequency (SRF) of the capacitors should be taken into consideration when selecting components to ensure the components remain capacitive at the operating frequency of 1.8–2.3 MHz.



Figure 3.18. Measured steady-state waveforms with  $V_{O1}$  regulated at 3.6V/1A.

Figure 3.18 shows the measured steady state waveforms with  $V_{O1}$  regulated to 3.6V while providing 1A of output current. The inductor node,  $V_{X1P}$ , flies between the  $V_{O2}$  and  $V_{O3}$  outputs, the inductor current slopes have the expected values, and the output voltages are near their nominal 50% duty cycle values, reflecting the theoretical operation shown in Fig. 3.3a.

The measured efficiency for the output power range of 1W up to ~12W for the  $V_{O1}$  path at various output voltages is shown in Fig. 3.19a together with the analytically estimated and Spectre simulated efficiencies. At 3.6V output, the converter's peak efficiency of 94.3% was measured at 4.9W and its peak output power was 12.2W at 90.8% efficiency. It can be seen that the measured efficiency correlates well with the analytical model up until approximately 5W. It is believed that weaker than expected connections between the flip chip and evaluation PCB



Figure 3.19. Measured efficiency (a) when  $V_{O1}$  is loaded and (b) when  $V_{O2}$  is loaded.



Figure 3.20. Closed-loop load transient responses for (a)  $V_{\rm O1}$  and (b)  $V_{\rm O2}.$ 

for the  $V_{O1}$  path led to higher than expected conduction losses at the higher  $V_{O1}$  output power range.

The measured power efficiencies for the  $V_{O2}$  loaded case are shown in Fig. 3.19b. A peak efficiency of 97.4% was achieved at 7.6V/13.6W output and the maximum output power was 31.9W at 96.5% efficiency. As can be seen, the measured and analytical calculations match well with measured results. As explained in Sections 3.2 and 3.3, for the  $V_{O2}$  path the charge is transferred more directly from the input to the output with less processing by the converter, leading to less current following in and out of the chip and thus less interconnect losses. This contributes to better converter performance and matching between analytical calculations and measured results. In Fig. 3.19b, there is a noticeable increase in efficiency at the higher output voltage levels for the  $V_{O2}$  loaded case. This result reflects and agrees well with the output resistance versus duty cycle trend shown in Fig. 3.8 and related loss analysis in Section 3.3.

The closed loop dynamics for both outputs were also evaluated. For this prototype, a simple voltage mode Type-1 compensator was implemented for closed loop regulation. The loop is closed around the  $V_{O1}$  or  $V_{O2}$  output depending on the load connection. Figure 3.20 shows the measured transient responses at 1A and 0.5A load steps when the converter is regulated at  $V_{O1}$ =3.6V (Fig. 3.20a) or  $V_{O2}$ =7.2V (Fig. 3.20b), respectively. The output droops and overshoots are maintained below 120mV, or 3.3% of its nominal value, for  $V_{O1}$  at 3.6V and 120mV, or 1.7% of its nominal value, for  $V_{O2}$  at 7.2V.

#### **3.6.2** Performance with a USB Cable - Smart-Cable Architecture

The converter was tested with the on-board inductor replaced by the parasitic inductance of a 1m USB cable that was measured at 522nH of inductance and  $272m\Omega$  of series resistance. The works in [36, 51] provide additional data on the range of inductances available across a variety of cables and consistency of values versus the physical orientation of the cable. A shorter cable with lower parasitic inductance could be utilized but at the cost of degraded efficiency due to higher current ripples.



Figure 3.21. Measured (a) steady-state waveforms and (b) efficiency with a 1m USB cable.

The measured steady-state waveforms of the converter operating with the USB cable while the V<sub>01</sub> output is regulated to 3.6V and delivering 7.2W is shown in Fig. 3.21a. For this test, the converter switching frequency was increased to 2.3MHz to help reduce the cable current ripple due to the reduced inductance. The measured efficiency with the USB cable is reported in Fig. 3.21b, including the overall efficiency with the cable losses as well as an estimate of the on-board efficiency without the cable losses. Accounting for only the on-board power losses, i.e. on-board heat dissipation, as the inductor-related losses are distributed across the cable, the converter achieved a peak on-board efficiency of 92.4% and maximum power of 7.2W when loaded at  $V_{O1}$ , limiting the on-board power dissipation to 630mW. When loaded at  $V_{O2}$ , the converter achieved a peak on-board efficiency of 97.6% and maximum output power of 14.4W, limiting the on-board power dissipation to 348mW. The slightly higher V<sub>O2</sub> peak on-board efficiency with the USB cable over the similar discrete inductor test scenario is likely caused by the fact that the converter operates at a higher duty cycle in the USB cable configuration (to compensate for additional cable IR drop) and thus results in a slightly lower effective output resistance for the converter compared to the discrete inductor test case, as explained in Section 3.3.

In order to confirm that USB communications can still be maintained while the converter is operating with the cable inductance, a file transfer experiment was performed while the



Figure 3.22. Block diagram of USB file transfer test setup.

converter was providing 6.5W at a regulated 3.6V. An illustration of the file transfer test setup is shown in Fig. 3.22. With this test setup, it was confirmed that a large media file could be reliably transferred between the USB host and USB device with no noticeable delay compared with a normal direct USB file transfer without converter operation. A video demonstration of the data transfer and measured power efficiency can be in the website media section of [21] for [52].

The USB cable in this demonstration can not only transmit data and deliver power but it is also a part of the power conversion stage for the battery charger, in which the significant loss associated with the inductor can be conveniently dissipated over the large surface of the cable. Therefore, this is called Smart-Cable architecture. It should be noted that this architecture does not require any external input bypass capacitors unlike a conventional buck converter since the flying node,  $V_{X1P}$ , is connected directly to the cable. Additionally, the proposed converter and Smart-Cable architecture enable the possibility of integrating the converter into the connector housing PCB; removing the charger converter, its associated passives and heat completely from the product. In this scenario, the converter would be permanently paired with a known cable inductance. The system could also detect whether a 1S or 2S device is connected to the Smart-Cable and connect it to the V<sub>O1</sub> or V<sub>O2</sub> outputs depending on the battery configuration; providing a single hardware solution for multiple charging applications.

#### **3.6.3 EMI Performance with a USB Cable - Smart-Cable Architecture**

In the Smart-Cable architecture described above, the USB cable is connected to a converter flying node and is being utilized to replace the inductor for power conversion. In this configuration, it is natural to suspect that radiated and conducted EMI would be a concern. To get a sense of the emissions performance of the converter in the Smart-Cable architecture, precursory EMI testing at a certified EMC lab was also conducted.

For radiated emissions, performance is highly dependent on the quality of the cable shielding and how it is terminated to the connector housings [53]. In typical USB cables, dedicated shields are provided for each of the data pairs in the wire bundle assembly in addition to a braid shield that wraps around the entire wire bundle [54, 55]. However, a dedicated shield is not provided for the  $V_{BUS}$  and ground wires in the cable which are utilized as the converter inductor for this application. Since the  $V_{BUS}$  wire is connected to a flying node ( $V_{X1P}$ ) in this application, the  $V_{BUS}$  and ground wire pair should also include a dedicated shield similar to the data pairs. For testing purposes, this was replicated by providing an additional shield around the cable that was terminated on each end to the respective power source and converter board grounds. Fig. 3.23 shows the block diagram and picture of the radiated EMI test setup and the resulting radiated quasi-peak measurement results are shown in Fig. 3.24 with the  $V_{O1}$  output regulated at 3.6V and delivering 7.2W.

As it can be seen, with a properly shielded cable the converter's radiated noise is below the CISPR 22/32 Class B limits for both vertial and horizontal scans [53, 56]. Conventional EMI mitigation techniques such as spread-spectrum modulation of the switching frequency [57] could be used in future prototypes to further improve EMI performance and provide even more margin between the measured results and test limits.

As mentioned in Section 3.2, the continuous input current of the proposed topology should provide significant conducted EMI benefits over the conventional buck converter. To validate this, conducted EMI testing [53, 58] was also performed with a consumer grade 9V



Figure 3.23. Block diagram and picture of radiated EMI test setup.



Figure 3.24. Radiated EMI test results with  $V_{O1}$  delivering 7.2W.



Figure 3.25. Block diagram of conducted EMI test setup.

AC-DC power supply. For this testing, a single 0402  $0.01\mu$ F and a single 0603  $0.1\mu$ F were added between the 9V supply output and ground at the AC-DC power supply. Fig. 3.25 shows the block diagram of the conducted EMI test setup. The quasi-peak and average results of the conducted line wire emissions testing are shown in Fig. 3.26 with the V<sub>O1</sub> output regulated at 3.6V and delivering 7.2W. As shown in the figure, the converter's conducted noise meets both the quasi-peak and average limits of the CISPR 22/32 Class B limits. It should be noted that compliance was achieved with as little as 110nF of additional bypass capacitance added to the input supply of the converter. This is significantly less that what is typically required for a conventional buck to meet conducted EMI compliance [59]. The conducted neutral wire emissions were also tested and yielded similar performance.

#### 3.6.4 Comparison to Prior Work

Table 3.2 provides a comprehensive comparison to the prior works reported in [9, 31, 36, 39, 59]. The converters presented in [9, 31, 59] provide reasonably high conversion ratios, but have their inductors located at the higher output current side which would require large component sizes for high current applications. The converter in [31] was also shown to have a very limited output range making it unsuitable for battery charging applications. [36, 39] both presented hybrid converters with input-located inductors, however [36] was demonstrated as a discrete implementation and did not provide conversion ratios necessary for 1S battery charging from a 9V input while [39] was limited for low voltage applications.



Figure 3.26. Conducted EMI test results with  $V_{O1}$  delivering 7.2W.

	<b>Table 3.2.</b>	Comparison	with	Prior	Works
--	-------------------	------------	------	-------	-------

	This Work	TI TP\$84621	W. Liu ISSCC '17	C. Schaef	G. Seo	A. Abdulslam
	WORK	11504021	15500 17	SESTIE 10	THE DO IT	15566 17
Topology	Hybrid	Buck	Hybrid	ReSC	Hybrid	Hybrid
Inductor location	Input	Output	Output	Output	Input	Input
Input voltage [V]	9	4.5 - 14.5	3 - 4.5	12	5	1.8
Output voltage [V]	3 - 4.2 (6 - 8.4)	0.6 - 5.5	0.3 - 1	3.5 - 3.8	3.3 - 3.8	0.5 - 1.5
Integrated regulation	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Peak output power [W]	12.2 (31.9)^	30*	1.24*	4.62	15**	3.5*
Peak efficiency w/ discrete inductor [%]	94.3 (97.4)^	95*	94.2	87	—	94
Peak on-board efficiency w/ USB [%]	92.4 (97.6)^^				91.5*	
Peak power density, die area only [W/mm <sup>2</sup> ]	1.66 (4.33)^		0.31*	0.47*		1.89*
Peak power density, die + passives [W/mm <sup>2</sup> ]	0.35 (0.69)**	0.14	0.12	0.38		0.64
Peak output current [A]	3.4 (4.2)	6	1.53	1.24*	3.9	2.5
Supports two-cell charging***	Yes	No	No	No	No	No
Switching frequency [MHz]	1.8 - 2.3	0.25 - 0.78	0.2 - 5	1.7	2	6.5
Process	130nm BCD		65nm CMOS	180nm CMOS	Discrete	180nm CMOS

Process**130nmBCD**—65nm CMOS180nm CMOSDiscrete180nm CMOS\*Estimation from reported measurement results, \*\*With USB cable, \*\*\*Capable of providing 2S output voltage range from 9V input.^1µH discrete inductor, ^^522nH cable inductance, all values in parenthesis are for the  $V_{O2}$  output

This work has demonstrated one of the first integrated circuit implementations of a hybrid step down converter with the inductor located at the lower input current side. It efficiently achieves the conversion ratios needed to take advantage of the higher 9V USB-C  $V_{BUS}$  setting while delivering high output powers utilizing a discrete input inductor or the parasitic inductance of a USB cable and zero on-board magnetics. Additionally, the same converter can be employed for both 1S and 2S battery charging applications.

## 3.7 Conclusion

As mobile product sizes and charge times continue to shrink while power, performance, and feature counts continue to increase year over year, there is a clear need for battery charger solutions to evolve with the products they support. This chapter has demonstrated a new hybrid topology that could be used to bridge this gap. By moving the inductor to the input and taking advantage of the benefits of SC networks, this new converter not only efficiently delivers the conversion ratios needed for charging 1S and 2S batteries from a USB-C source but also enables the possibility of eliminating all on-board magnetics associated with the charger converter with the Smart-Cable architecture.

A detailed loss analysis was provided for this new topology as well as simulation and measurement results to corroborate the expected output powers and efficiencies. Closed loop regulation and dynamics were demonstrated indicating stable operation for both main output power paths. Radiated and conducted EMI testings were performed to prove the system solution can pass the stringent CISPR 22/32 Class B compliance limit. Additionally, a large media file was transferred across the USB cable during converter operation, demonstrating a new potential charger solution where the USB cable is not only used for data transmission and power delivery, but also for power conversion.

## 3.8 Acknowledgment

Chapter 3 is based on and mostly a reprint of the following publications [41, 52]:

- C. Hardy and H. Le, "8.3 A 10.9W 93.4%-Efficient (27W 97%-Efficient) Flying-Inductor Hybrid DC-DC Converter Suitable for 1-Cell (2-Cell) Battery Charging Applications," in 2019 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), Feb. 2019, pp. 150–152.
- C. Hardy, Y. Ramadass, K. Scoones, and H.-P. Le, "A Flying-Inductor Hybrid DC-DC

Converter for 1-Cell and 2-Cell Smart-Cable Battery Chargers," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 54, no. 12, pp. 3292–3305, Dec. 2019.

The dissertation author is the primary author of these publications and the co-authors have approved the use of the material for this dissertation.

## Chapter 4

# A Reconfigurable Single Inductor Multistage Hybrid Converter for 1-Cell Battery Chargers

## 4.1 Background and Motivation

The ongoing demand for smaller form factors and faster charging times of mobile products continue to drive the need for efficient, high-density power delivery (PD) for charging with a wide input voltage ( $V_{IN}$ ) range of 5V–20V, offered by USB-C PD. A converter solution that efficiently takes advantage of this wide  $V_{IN}$  range while providing an output voltage ( $V_O$ ) range suitable for battery charging (2.8V–4.2V) remains challenging but highly desirable. Hybrid converters and their associated benefits provide a path to meet this challenge.

The advantages of reduced voltage blocking requirements for power switches and higher effective switching frequency to promote reduced inductor sizes have been demonstrated in [7, 8, 18] but with limited V<sub>IN</sub> ranges that are unable to support the full USB-C PD range. Many recent works have also explored hybrid converters that merge operation of more complex switched capacitor (SC) and switched inductor (SI) topologies with the goal of efficiently realizing higher  $v_{IN}/v_0$  step-down voltage conversion ratios (VCRs) in mind [10, 14, 15, 17, 60]. However, these examples have limited VCR ranges as they are solely focused on achieving high step-down VCRs. Other new topologies such as the ones presented in [51, 52] move the inductor to the

lower input current side of the converter while still achieving step-down VCRs. While these examples provide significant inductor current reductions proportional to their respective VCRs, they do no provide high enough step-down VCRs to support the full USB-C PD voltage range.

The work presented in this chapter attempts to address these shortcomings by extending the concepts of merged multi-stage hybrid converters. It also extends the concepts of power stage reconfigurability for efficient VCR realization, which is something that has been demonstrated extensively for SC converters [4,5,24,61] but not yet explored for hybrid converters.

## 4.2 **Topology Concepts**

Fig. 4.1 provides simplified high level concepts for various hybrid step-down converter configurations as well as some implementation examples. As shown in each configuration in the top of Fig. 4.1 it is assumed there is a circuit element present that can emulated the behavior of a current source to provide soft-charging benefits to the SC stages. If the converters operate at a high enough switching frequency ( $f_S$ ) for given inductor value (L) such that a small ripple approximation can be applied to the inductor current [23] then the current sources in each configuration can be realized with an inductor.

Fig. 4.1(a) shows what is likely the most common configuration where the current source/inductor is placed at the output. The simplest topology example of this configuration is the 3-level buck converter [7, 8, 18]. In this particular example, the flying capacitor (C) is completely soft charged and discharged by the inductor current while providing the additional benefits of higher effective  $f_S$ , reduced voltage blocking requirements for the power switches, and a wide theoretical step-down VCR range of 0–1 but at the expense of having the inductor at the high output current path. Fig. 4.1(b) shows a less common step-down configuration where the current source/inductor is located at the input. An early example topology of this configuration was proposed in [37] and was further expanded up in [51] where it was referred to as the S-Hybrid converter which is shown in Fig. 4.1(b). Another discrete implementation



**Figure 4.1.** High level diagrams and examples of hybrid converter configurations with the inductor at the output (a), input (b), and in the middle (c).

including a detailed loss analysis was discussed in [38] and an integrated implementation was also demonstrated in [40]. The topology provides the added benefits of DC inductor current reduction proportional to its VCR, partial soft charging benefits of the flying capacitor (C), and reduction of the switch blocking voltage requirements to  $V_0$ . However, its theoretical step-down VCR range is limited to 0.5–1. This work is focused on the new configuration shown in Fig. 4.1(c) where the current source/inductor is used to couple two SC stages to further extend the VCR capabilities of the converter while also providing soft charging benefits to each stage, reducing the DC inductor current, and reducing switch voltage blocking requirements. The proposed example implementation of this configuration, which will be the focus of the remainder of this chapter, is also shown in Fig. 4.1(c). At initial inspection, it can be seen that it utilizes the topologies shown in Figs. 4.1(a) and 4.1(b). However, as will be shown in subsequent sections, it also leverages SC reconfiguration concepts to maintain high efficiencies over an extended VCR range.

## **4.3** Power Stage and Operating Modes

The power stage with the power switch device implementation is shown in Fig. 4.2. During steady-state operation the first stage flying capacitor voltage (V<sub>C1</sub>) is equal to  $v_{1N}/2$  or V<sub>IN</sub> depending on the operating mode and the second stage flying capacitor voltage (V<sub>C2</sub>) is equal to V<sub>0</sub> for all operating modes. As indicated the figure, each side of the inductor is connected to a switching node that is capable of providing multiple voltage levels depending on the mode of operation. The LX switching node has three possible voltage levels (V<sub>IN</sub>,  $v_{1N}/_2$ , or 0V) while the C2P switching node has two possible voltage levels (V<sub>0</sub> or 2V<sub>0</sub>). Since the inductor is located between the two SC stages, the DC inductor current (I<sub>L</sub>) reduced to a level equal to output current (I<sub>0</sub>) scaled down by the conversion ratio of the second stage. The converter has 4 primary operating modes: Lower Series-Parallel (LSP), Lower Parallel-Series (LPS), Upper Parallel-Series (UPS), and Bypass Parallel-Series (BPS) which will be described in more detail the following subsections. It should be noted that for all modes, the duty cycle (D) is defined as the duration of  $w_{2}/_2$ , that is used to energize the inductor where T<sub>S</sub> is the converter switching period. This is slightly different from other conventional switching converters where D corresponds to the on-time duration of a specific power switch.

#### 4.3.1 Lower Series-Parallel Mode (LSP) Operation

Fig. 4.3 shows the LSP mode operating states and switching waveforms. As shown in Fig. 4.3a, this mode has 3 unique switching states. The steady-state DC voltages across the flying capacitors,  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ , are  $v_{IN/2}$  and  $V_O$  respectively. During State A, both  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are soft charged by the inductor current (I<sub>L</sub>) and the inductor current ramps up at a rate of

$$\frac{\frac{V_{IN}/2 - 2V_O}{L}}{L}$$



**Figure 4.2.** SIMS converter power stage, switching node voltage levels, and voltage conversion ratios.

During State B, C<sub>2</sub> is hard discharged into V<sub>O</sub> and the inductor current ramps down at a rate of

$$\frac{-V_O}{L}$$

In State C,  $C_1$  is soft discharged by  $I_L$  while  $C_2$  is soft charged and the inductor current ramps up at rate equal to that of State A. Finally, State B is repeated to complete the full switch period ( $T_s$ ). Performing volt-sec balance analysis over the switching period results in a VCR of

$$M_{V-LSP} = \frac{V_O}{V_{IN}} = \frac{D}{2(1+D)}$$
(4.1)

while analyzing the charge flow for the inductor and flying capacitors results in

$$M_{I-LSP} = \frac{I_L}{I_O} = \frac{1}{1+D}$$
(4.2)



**Figure 4.3.** LSP mode (a) operating states and (b) switching node and inductor current waveforms.

where  $I_L$  and  $I_O$  are the DC inductor and output currents, respectively. From the inductor current ramp rate expressions and (4.1) is can also be shown that the peak-to-peak inductor current ripple is

$$\Delta i_{L-LSP} = \frac{V_{IN}}{2Lf_S} \frac{M_{V-LSP} - 4(M_{V-LSP})^2}{1 - 2M_{V-LSP}}$$
(4.3)

where  $f_S$  is the switching frequency ( $f_S = 1/T_s$ ).

#### 4.3.2 Lower Parallel-Series Mode (LPS) Operation

Fig. 4.4 shows the LPS mode operating states and switching waveforms. This mode is almost identical to LSP mode except that the second stage operating phase is inverted. As shown in Fig. 4.4a, this mode also has 3 unique switching states and the steady-state DC voltages across the flying capacitors are the same as in LSP mode. During State A,  $C_1$  is soft charged by the inductor current while  $C_2$  is hard discharged to the output and the inductor current ramps up at a rate of

$$\frac{\frac{V_{IN}/2 - V_O}{L}}{L}$$

During State B, C<sub>2</sub> is soft charged by the inductor current while it ramps down at a rate of

$$\frac{-2V_O}{L}.$$

In State C,  $C_1$  is soft discharged by  $I_L$  while  $C_2$  is hard discharged and the inductor current ramps up at a rate equal to that of State A. Finally, State B is repeated to complete the full switching period. Performing volt-sec balance analysis over the switching period results in a VCR of

$$M_{V-LPS} = \frac{V_O}{V_{IN}} = \frac{D}{2(2-D)}$$
(4.4)

while analyzing the charge flow for the inductor and flying capacitors results in

$$M_{I-LPS} = \frac{I_L}{I_O} = \frac{1}{2-D}$$
(4.5)

and the resulting peak-to-peak inductor current ripple is

$$\Delta i_{L-LPS} = \frac{V_{IN}}{2Lf_S} \frac{2M_{V-LPS} - 4(M_{V-LPS})^2}{1 + 2M_{V-LPS}}.$$
(4.6)

#### 4.3.3 Upper Parallel-Series Mode (UPS) Operation

Fig. 4.5 shows the UPS mode operating states and switching waveforms. As shown in Fig. 4.5a, this mode also has 3 unique switching states and the steady-state DC voltages across the flying capacitors are the same as the LSP and LPS modes with the major difference in this mode being that the LX node is connected directly to  $V_{IN}$  during State A. In this state, the inductor current ramps up at a rate of

$$\frac{V_{IN} - V_O}{L}$$



**Figure 4.4.** LPS mode (a) operating states and (b) switching node and inductor current waveforms.

while  $C_2$  is hard discharged to the output. In State B, both flying capacitors are soft charged by the inductor current which ramps down at a rate of

$$\frac{V_{IN}/2 - V_O}{L}$$

State A is then repeated and the inductor current ramps down while  $C_2$  is again hard discharged to the output. Finally, State C soft discharges  $C_1$  while  $C_2$  is soft charged to complete the full switching period. Performing volt-sec balance analysis over  $T_S$  results in a VCR of

$$M_{V-UPS} = \frac{V_O}{V_{IN}} = \frac{1+D}{2(2-D)}$$
(4.7)

while analyzing the charge flow for the inductor and flying capacitors results in

$$M_{I-UPS} = \frac{I_L}{I_O} = \frac{1}{2-D}$$
(4.8)



**Figure 4.5.** UPS mode (a) operating states and (b) switching node and inductor current waveforms.

and the resulting peak-to-peak inductor current ripple is

$$\Delta i_{L-UPS} = \frac{V_{IN}}{2Lf_S} (1 - M_{V-UPS}) \left(\frac{4M_{V-UPS} - 1}{2M_{V-UPS} + 1}\right).$$
(4.9)

#### 4.3.4 Bypass Parallel-Series Mode (BPS) Operation

The operating states and switching waveforms for the final primary mode, BPS mode, are shown in Fig. 4.6. As can be seen, this mode consists of only two unique switching states and  $C_1$  is repurposed as an additional input bypass capacitor with the LX node voltage fixed at  $V_{IN}$ . Therefore,  $C_1$  has a voltage of  $V_{IN}$  across it while  $C_2$  continues to have a steady-state DC voltage of  $V_O$  as with the other modes. Note that in order to maintain consistency in the timing conventions used in the converter analysis and expressions for all modes, the  $T_S$  is still defined as the time needed to complete for state transitions (i.e. 2 cycles of States A and B in Fig. 4.6b

for one T<sub>S</sub>). In State A, the inductor current ramps up at a rate of

$$\frac{V_{IN} - V_O}{L}$$

while  $C_2$  is hard discharged to the output. Then in State B, the inductor soft charges  $C_2$  while the inductor current ramps down at a rate of

$$\frac{V_{IN}-2V_O}{L}.$$

States A and B are then repeated to complete the  $T_S$  switching period. Performing volt-sec balance analysis over  $T_S$  results in a VCR of

$$M_{V-BPS} = \frac{V_O}{V_{IN}} = \frac{1}{2-D}$$
(4.10)

while analyzing the charge flow for the inductor and flying capacitors results in

$$M_{I-BPS} = \frac{I_L}{I_O} = \frac{1}{2-D}$$
(4.11)

and the resulting peak-to-peak inductor current ripple is

$$\Delta i_{L-BPS} = \frac{V_{IN}}{2Lf_S} \left( 3 - \frac{1}{M_{V-BPS}} - 2M_{V-BPS} \right).$$
(4.12)

#### 4.3.5 Summary of Conversion Ratios Across Modes

Fig. 4.1 provides a summary of all the main converter modes including simplified representations of the switching states. To illustrate the versatility the different modes offer from the perspective of VCRs, Fig. 4.7 shows the ideal VCR vs. D and modes where  $M_{V-x}$  is general variable representing the VCR for the various modes. As can be seen from the plot,



**Figure 4.6.** BPS mode (a) operating states and (b) switching node and inductor current waveforms.

the various modes are theoretically capable of realizing VCRs from 0–1. However, up to this point it is still unclear which mode should be utilized in the cases where multiple modes are theoretically capable of providing the same VCR. This will be addressed with the loss analysis across modes in Section 4.4 which will also provide some criteria for determining the optimal mode based on operating range requirements. It should also be noted that in the cases where there is an intersection between the VCRs, as is the case for the LSP and LPS modes at the D = 0.5 point, provides and opportunity to extend the VCR range when traversing different D values. For example, if the converter is initially operating in LSP mode at D < 0.5 and the D value continues to increase, the converter could switch to the LPS mode near the D = 0.5 point to extend the maximum achievable VCR beyond the maximum possible VCR for LSP mode (i.e. max. VCR would be extended from 0.25 to 0.5). This will be covered more in Sections 4.4 and 4.6.

LSP Mode	State A → State B	States A & C
$V_{\rm IN} C_1 \qquad L_2 V_0 \qquad L_2 L_2 C_2 V_0 \qquad L_2 L_2 C_2 P_1 \qquad L_2 C_2 C_2 C_2 C_2 C_2 \qquad L_2 C_2 C_2 C_2 C_2 C_2 C_2 C_2 C_2 C_2 C$	State B <b>∢</b> —State C	charging 2 State B (1 - D)T
$\begin{array}{c} \downarrow \downarrow$	$\left  M_{\text{V-LSP}} = \frac{D}{2(1+D)} \right  M_{\text{I-LSP}} = \frac{1}{1+D}$	Inductor 2 discharging
LPS Mode	State A→State B	States A & C
$\begin{array}{c c} State \ A \\ V_{\rm IN} \ C_1 \\ L \\ LX \\ \hline \ LX \\ \ LX \\ \ LX \\ \ LX \\ \hline \ LX \\ \ LX \ \ LX \\ \ LX \\ \ LX \ \ LX \\ \ LX \\ \ LX \\ \ LX \ \ LX \\ \ LX \ \ LX \\ \ LX \ \ L$	State B ← State C	charging State B (1 - D)T <sub>S</sub>
$+ V_{\mathbb{N}/2^{-}} \stackrel{\downarrow}{=} c_2 \stackrel{\downarrow}{=} V_{\mathbb{N}/2^{-}} \stackrel{\vee_{\mathbb{N}}}{=} c_1 \stackrel{\vee_{\mathbb{N}}}{=} c_2$	$\left  M_{\text{V-LPS}} = \frac{D}{2(2 - D)} \right  M_{\text{I-LPS}} = \frac{1}{2 - D}$	Inductor 2 discharging
UPS Mode	State A→State B	State A
$\begin{array}{c} V_{\text{IN}} & L \\ \hline L X \\$	State C - State A	charging States B & C (1 - D)T
$ \underbrace{ \begin{array}{c} \downarrow \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \end{array} } \begin{array}{c} c_2 \\ + v_{\text{IN}/2^-} \\ + v_0^- \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \frac{m}{2} \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} c_1 \\ \downarrow \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} + v_0^- \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \end{array} $	$M_{V-UPS} = \frac{1+D}{2(2-D)} M_{I-UPS} = \frac{1}{2-D}$	Inductor 2
State A BPS Mode State B	State A → State B	State A Inductor
$ \begin{array}{c} L \\ T \\ T$	State B ← State A	charging <sup>2</sup>
$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \end{array} $	$M_{\text{V-BPS}} = M_{\text{I-BPS}} = \frac{1}{2 - D}$	$ \frac{State D}{Inductor}                                     $

Table 4.1. Summary of operating mode switching states and conversion ratios.



Figure 4.7. Ideal VCR vs. duty cycle vs. main operating modes.

### 4.3.6 Inductor Current Comparison to 2-level and 3-level Buck Converters

As can be seen from the  $I_L/I_0$  equations (4.2), (4.5), (4.8), and (4.11) for each mode, the DC inductor current is equal to the output current scaled down by the VCR of the second SC stage. This results in a reduction in the inductor conduction losses by the second stage VCR squared. This could translate into significant loss reductions for high DCR inductors and help ease saturation current requirements when compared to conventional 2-level and 3-level buck converters where the inductors must conduct the full output current.

To illustrate these potential benefits, example plots of the peak-to-peak inductor currents  $(\Delta i_L)$  and the maximum inductor current values for the SIMS converter, 2-level buck, and 3-level buck are shown in Fig. 4.8 for the same output current, inductor value, and switching frequency. The maximum inductor currents are defined as the DC current plus half of the peak-to-peak ripple value. The portions of the curves that correspond to the VCRs needed for charging a 1-cell battery (i.e.  $V_O = 2.8V-4.2V$ ) are highlighted in solid blue. In all of the example scenarios, both the inductor current ripple and maximum inductor current are significantly less than the 2-level buck converter over the required VCR ranges. When compared to the 3-level buck, this is only true for some of the ripple current scenarios. However, it should be noted that the maximum inductor current is consistently less in all cases by virtue of the DC output current being scaled down by the SIMS second stage VCR when referred back to the DC inductor current level.

## 4.4 Conduction Loss Analysis and Characteristics Across Modes

The conduction loss analysis utilizes the same charge flow techniques and DC transformer model  $R_O$  presented in Section 3.3. Therefore, a detailed step-by-step analysis for the SIMS converter modes will not be covered and this section will focus on the results and the resulting  $R_O$  behavior across modes and VCRs.



**Figure 4.8.** Comparison of SIMS, 2-level buck, and 3-level buck peak-to-peak inductor current ripple and maximum inductor current value vs. VCR with  $I_0 = 5A$ .

Since  $C_2$  is only partially soft charged in two of the switching states, its hard discharge losses are be accounted for in the resulting SSL losses. The equivalent SSL output resistance for each mode are

$$R_{SSL-LSP} = \frac{(M_{I-LSP})^2 D^2}{4C_2 f_S}$$
(4.13)

$$R_{SSL-LPS} = \frac{(M_{I-LPS})^2 (1-D)^2}{4C_2 f_S}$$
(4.14)

$$R_{SSL-UPS} = \frac{(M_{I-UPS})^2 (1-D)^2}{4C_2 f_S}$$
(4.15)

$$R_{SSL-BPS} = \frac{(M_{I-BPS})^2 (1-D)^2}{4C_2 f_S}.$$
(4.16)

For the FSL related conduction losses, the general expression for the equivalent FSL output resistance across all modes is

$$R_{FSL-x} = \sum_{i=1}^{7} a_{S_i} R_{ON_i} + \sum_{k=1}^{2} a_{esr_k} ESR_k + a_{dcr} L_{DCR}$$
(4.17)

where  $a_{S_i}$ ,  $a_{esr_k}$ , and  $a_{dcr}$  are the duty cycle dependent scale factors for each output-referred resistive loss element,  $R_{ON_i}$  is the on-resistance for power switch  $S_i$ ,  $ESR_k$  is the equivalent series resistance for flying capacitor  $C_k$ , and  $L_{DCR}$  is the DC resistance of the inductor. Since  $C_1$  is fully soft charged/discharged, only the conduction losses associated with its ESR are included in the  $R_{FSL}$  for the modes where it is actively switching. Note that since  $C_1$  is not active during BPS mode, its ESR related losses along with switch S4's losses are ignored in this mode. Additionally, since switch S3 is off in BPS mode its losses are also ignored.

The resulting equivalent output resistance can then be estimated as

$$R_O \approx \sqrt{(R_{SSL-x})^2 + (R_{FSL-x})^2}$$
 (4.18)

where  $R_{SSL-x}$  and  $R_{FSL-x}$  are the effective SSL and FSL output resistances for each mode, respectively.

#### 4.4.1 Mode Selection Determination for Optimal Performance

Equations (4.14) - (4.18) and the FSL scale factors provided in Fig. 4.9 can now be utilized to gain some more insight on optimal mode selection for a given set of operating range requirements. Fig. 4.10(a) shows the ideal VCRs vs. duty cycle while Fig. 4.10(b) shows the normalized R<sub>O</sub> vs. VCR relationship for an example converter across different modes. Fig. 4.10(b) shows there is an asymmetry to R<sub>O</sub> for each of the main modes of operation where R<sub>O</sub> increases dramatically and approaches a vertical asymptote as the hard charge loss of the second stage begins to dominate. By selecting a mode that meets VCR requirements with smaller R<sub>O</sub>, these regions can be avoided. Ideally, in the case of a closed loop regulator, a mode would be selected such that the regulation loop would move the duty cycle in trajectory away from the regions of high R<sub>O</sub> as the loop increases the duty cycle with increasing output current levels.

Additionally, modes with intersecting VCRs provide an opportunity to extend the VCR range while also minimizing conduction losses. More specifically, when operating in the LSP and LPS modes this can be achieved by automatically detecting when D = 0.5 and simply inverting the second stage operating phases. This automatic mode (Auto mode) is a fifth mode in addition to the other four primary modes that can be leveraged for simultaneous VCR extension and minimization of conduction losses as highlighted in the overlayed Auto Mode curve in Fig. 4.10. As shown in Fig. 4.10(a), by transitioning from LSP mode to LPS mode at D = 0.5 the maximum theoretically achievable VCR can be increased from 0.25 to 0.5. While Fig. 4.10(b) shows that when transitioning from LSP mode to LPS mode at D = 0.5 the vertical asymptote in  $R_O$  can be avoided. The same is also true for when transitioning from LPS to LSP mode with decreasing VCR.

However, care must be taken during this transition to minimize the possibility of significant  $V_O$  perturbations since at D = 0.5 the inductor ripple current of LPS mode is twice that of

Mode	$a_{s_1}$	$a_{s_2}$	$a_{s_3}$	$a_{s_4}$
LSP	$(M_{I-LSP})^2 \left(\frac{D}{2}\right)$	$(M_{I-LSP})^2 \left(\frac{D}{2}\right)$	$(M_{I-LSP})^2 \left(\frac{2-D}{2}\right)$	$(M_{I-LSP})^2 \left(\frac{2-D}{2}\right)$
LPS	$(M_{I-LPS})^2 \left(\frac{D}{2}\right)$	$(M_{I-LPS})^2 \left(\frac{D}{2}\right)$	$(M_{I-LPS})^2 \left(\frac{2-D}{2}\right)$	$(M_{I-LPS})^2 \left(\frac{2-D}{2}\right)$
UPS	$(M_{I-UPS})^2 \left(\frac{1+D}{2}\right)$	$(M_{I-UPS})^2 \left(\frac{1+D}{2}\right)$	$(M_{I-UPS})^2 \left(\frac{1-D}{2}\right)$	$(M_{I-UPS})^2 \left(\frac{1-D}{2}\right)$
BPS	$(M_{I-BPS})^2$	$(M_{I-BPS})^2$	0	0

1.	. `
- 19	<b>a</b> 1
. (•	•,

Mode	$a_{s_5}$	$a_{s_6}$	$a_{s_7}$
LSP	$(M_{I-LSP})^2 \left(\frac{1}{1-D}\right)$	$(M_{I-LSP})^2 D$	$(M_{I-LSP})^2 \left(\frac{D^2}{1-D}\right)$
LPS	$(M_{I-LPS})^2 \left(\frac{1}{D}\right)$	$(M_{I-LPS})^2(1-D)$	$(M_{I-LPS})^2 rac{(1-D)^2}{D}$
UPS	$(M_{I-UPS})^2 \left(\frac{1}{D}\right)$	$(M_{I-UPS})^2(1-D)$	$(M_{I-UPS})^2 \frac{(1-D)^2}{D}$
BPS	$(M_{I-BPS})^2 rac{1}{D}$	$(M_{I-BPS})^2(1-D)$	$(M_{I-BPS})^2 rac{(1-D)^2}{D}$

1	<b>b</b> )
J	D)

Mode	$a_{esr_1}$	$a_{esr_2}$	a <sub>dcr</sub>	
LSP	$(M_{I-LSP})^2 D$	$(M_{I-LSP})^2 \left(\frac{D}{1-D}\right)$	$(M_{I-LSP})^2$	
LPS	$(M_{I-LPS})^2 D$	$(M_{I-LPS})^2 \left(\frac{1-D}{D}\right)$	$(M_{I-LPS})^2$	
UPS	$(M_{I-UPS})^2(1-D)$	$(M_{I-UPS})^2 \left(\frac{1-D}{D}\right)$	$(M_{I-UPS})^2$	
BPS	0	$(M_{I-BPS})^2 \frac{1-D}{D}$	$(M_{I-BPS})^2$	
(c)				

**Figure 4.9.** (a) FSL scale factors for switches S1–S4 (b) FSL scale factors for switches S5–S7 (c) FSL scale factors for flying capacitor ESRs and inductor DCR.



Figure 4.10. (a) Ideal VCRs vs. D and (b) normalized  $R_0$  vs. VCR for an example SIMS converter.

LSP mode as can be shown by evaluating equations (4.3) and (4.6) when D = 0.5. The methods to address this will be covered in Subsection 4.6.8.

## 4.5 **Power Switch Optimization**

By utilizing equation (4.17) and the FSL scale factors provided in Fig. 4.9, the same Lagrange multiplier based optimization from Subsection 3.4.2 and [46] can be used to derive an expression for the optimal power switch sizing for a given switch area constraint. The switch area constraint is defined as

$$A_{s,tot} = \sum_{i=1}^{7} \frac{G_{s_i}}{G_{den,s_i}}$$
(4.19)

where  $G_{s_i}$  and  $G_{den,s_i}$  are the on-state conductance and conductance density of switch S<sub>i</sub>, respectively, and equation (4.17) is the function to be minimized. Inserting (4.17) and (4.19) into the Lagrange optimization expression yields

$$\mathscr{L} = \sum_{i=1}^{7} \frac{a_{s_i}}{G_{s_i}} + \lambda \left( \sum_{i=1}^{7} \frac{G_{s_i}}{G_{den,s_i}} - A_{s,tot} \right).$$

$$(4.20)$$

Setting the partial derivatives of (4.20) with respect to  $G_{s_i}$  and  $\lambda$  to zero and solving the resulting system of equations provides the optimal switch conductances for a given area as

$$G_{s_i,opt} = \frac{A_{s,tot}\sqrt{a_{s_i}G_{den,s_i}}}{\sum_{i=1}^7 \sqrt{\frac{a_{s_i}}{G_{den,s_i}}}}.$$
(4.21)

## 4.6 Implementation Details

The block diagram for the SIMS converter prototype is shown in Fig. 4.11. For this initial prototype, a voltage mode control feedback loop was utilized for output regulation. All circuitry required for  $V_O$ ,  $V_{C1}$  balancing, PWM generation, mode/timing control, and power switch driving were included in the test chip. Compensation and  $V_O$  feedback components were provided externally to facilitate tuning of the regulation and  $V_{C1}$  balancer performance. A programable test register was included to allow mode control and optimization of switching frequency, dead-times, and timing of each power stage during verification testing.

#### 4.6.1 Power Switches, Gate Drivers, and Level Shifters

The power stage and gate driving implementation is shown in Fig. 4.12. Switches S1–S4 are implemented with high voltage (HV) 12V devices since they must block  $v_{Ib}/_2$  when off, while S5-S7 are implemented with 5V devices since they only need to block  $V_0$  when off (i.e. 2.8V–4.2V). The schematic for the level shifters is also shown in Fig. 4.12 and consists of a current controlled push-pull output stage with the HV devices functioning as HV blocking cascodes. When idling, the state of the level shifter is maintained with a small bias current,  $I_{BL}$ , to reduce quiescent current. During output or flying domain supply ( $V_{DDH}/V_{SSH}$ ) transitions, the HC\_PUL signal briefly pulses a high bias current,  $I_{BH}$ , to increase speed and provide high  $dv/_{dt}$  immunity.

The high-side regulator (HS REG) generates a voltage  $\sim$ 5V below V<sub>IN</sub> to power the



Figure 4.11. Block diagram of the SIMS converter prototype.

S1–S2 gate drivers while also limiting the gate drive swing below their maximum source to gate voltage ( $V_{SG}$ ) ratings. It is also used to refresh S2's bootstrap capacitor ( $C_{B2}$ ) through diode D0 when S1 is on. S3's gate driver is powered by  $C_{B3}$  and is refreshed by  $V_{DD}$  and D1 when S4 is on. Bootstrap diodes, D0–D1, are implemented with integrated Schottky diodes. The gate drivers for S5–S6 are powered from C2 while S7's driver is powered from V<sub>0</sub>.

The simplified schematic for the HS REG block is shown in Fig. 4.13. It consists of a  $V_{IN}$  referenced Zener diode based shunt regulator. A small low-side bias current ( $I_{B,LS}$ ) keeps the Zener in break over and provides a light load bias for the pass transistor (M0) while the the HV devices (M1–M2) function as HV blocking cascodes for the low voltage (LV) 5V devices used for the  $I_{B,LS}$  current sinks. The Zener and high-side biasing PMOS are implemented with LV devices in a HV N-well biased at  $V_{IN}$ . An option to connect the drain of M0 to  $V_{DD}$  via the HS Charge Recycler block is also included to re-direct the pass device current to the  $V_{DD}$  domain sub-blocks and reduce the source to drain ( $V_{SD}$ ) when operating at high  $V_{IN}$  voltages.



Figure 4.12. Power stage, gate driving, level shifter implementations.



Figure 4.13. High side shunt regulator and charge recycler.
#### 4.6.2 V<sub>O</sub> Regulation and V<sub>C1</sub> Balancer

While C2 does not require active voltage balancing since it is hard discharged to  $V_0$ each cycle, C1 does when the converter is in a mode where it is actively switching since it is fully soft charged/discharged by the inductor current and is susceptible to V<sub>C1</sub> drift due to power stage timing and impedance mismatches in its charging and discharging paths. The balancer and Vo regulation implementation, shown in Fig. 4.14, utilizes a modified approach from [8] where the V<sub>O</sub> loop sets the common mode of the error signals, BP and BM, that are sampled by the pulse width modulator (PWM) which then determines the duty cycles of the PWM1, PWM2, and switch control signals. The balancer sense amplifier continuously measures an attenuated value of the V<sub>C1</sub> voltage and its output (C1\_SNS) is compared to a scaled referenced voltage (V<sub>B\_REF\_LS</sub>) derived from V<sub>IN</sub>. If an imbalance exists, the balancer loop then produces a small differential voltage between BP and BM ( $\Delta V_B$ ) to finely adjust the switch timing to regulate  $V_{C1}$  to  $v_{IN/2}$  by slightly adjusting the charging and discharging times of  $C_1$ . This allows the balancer and V<sub>O</sub> loops to be independently compensated since the balancer compensation  $(Z_{C_B})$  does not appear in the common mode path of the V<sub>O</sub> loop. For this prototype, a simple Type-1 compensation network was utilized for the V<sub>O</sub> regulation loop by implementing Z<sub>C</sub> with a shunt capacitor to set the bandwidth of the loop [23, 62, 63]. The V<sub>O</sub> regulation error amplifier (EA) is implemented with a basic single stage folded cascode topology while the sense amplifier is implemented with a simple two stage op-amp with a source follower for the output stage. Therefore, their implementation details are not covered here. Subsection 4.6.4 provides a detailed analysis of the balancer loop and Z<sub>C.B</sub> network turning that is dependent on some of the internal components of the balancer EA sub-block. Therefore, the balancer EA implementation is covered in some detail in subsection 4.6.3.

The other signals shown in Fig. 4.14 associated with the Auto Mode Detect and control signal generation block will be covered in subsections 4.6.6 and 4.6.8, respectively.



Figure 4.14.  $V_O$  and  $V_{C1}$  balancer control diagram.

#### 4.6.3 V<sub>C1</sub> Balancer Error Amplifier

Fig. 4.15a shows the schematics for the balancer EA and common mode feedback (CMFB) circuit. As described in subsection 4.6.2, the balancer EA's output common mode (CM) is set by the V<sub>O</sub> regulation EA output (REG) which drives the CM\_REF input of the CMFB sub-block as shown in Fig. 4.15b which also shows the analog switches used for enabling and disabling the balancer loop for testing purposes (drawn in the state where the balancer is enabled). The output CM is sensed by a resistive CM detector formed by R<sub>CM</sub> and C<sub>CM</sub>. Capacitors C<sub>C</sub> are small local compensation capacitors to ensure the balancer EA remains stable when the balancer loop is disabled. To ensure the balancer EA starts up properly even when the balancer is disabled and its outputs are at 0V, a CM output start-up sub-circuit is also included in the EA and CMFB sections which are formed by devices M0-M5. In the situation that both outputs are near 0V and the balancer is disabled, this means the EA's inputs are shorted together by SW2, INM is shorted to OUTP through SW0, and INP is shorted to OUTM through SW1. Therefore, INP and INM are also at 0V and there is no bias current flow in the EA initially. This also causes M1 to be off and the SU\_CTL signal is pulled up to V<sub>DD</sub>, resulting in switches M2 and M3 to be turned on and a small about of bias current (I<sub>SU</sub>) is allowed to conduct through M4 and M5. This then pulls down the PG0 and PG1 nodes which causes the OUTP and OUTM nodes to come up and the EA enters normal operation.



Figure 4.15. (a) Balancer error amplifier schematic and (b) enable/disable connections.

#### 4.6.4 V<sub>C1</sub> Balancer Small Signal Analysis and Compensation

As mentioned in subsection 4.6.2, the C1 balancer loop regulates  $V_{C1}$  to the correct  $v_{1N/2}$  by slightly adjusting the charging and discharging times of C<sub>1</sub>. In the ideal case where there are no mechanisms that would induce a  $V_{C1}$  imbalance, these charging and discharging time durations would be equal to

$$\frac{DT_S}{2}$$

For example, these would be equal to the time durations of States A and C when operating in LSP mode (Fig. 4.3). However, in a practical implementation where these sources of imbalance are unavoidable, the D values for each of these states would be slightly unequal in order to properly regulate  $V_{C1}$  or due to timing mismatches. In this case, we can define the  $C_1$  charging state duty cycle as  $D_{CHG}$  and the discharging state duty cycle as  $D_{DIS}$ . Since a drift in the  $V_{C1}$  voltage implies that the average current flowing through  $C_1$  is not equal to zero, we can start by

first defining the average C1 current as

$$\bar{I}_{C1} = \frac{D_{CHG}(T_s/2)I_L - D_{DIS}(T_s/2)I_L}{T_S} = \frac{I_L}{2} \left( D_{CHG} - D_{DIS} \right) = \frac{I_L}{2} \Delta D.$$
(4.22)

From state-space averaging and knowing that  $I_{C1} = C_1 \frac{dV_{C1}}{dt}$ , we can then perturb and linearize [23] the  $\Delta D$  and  $V_{C1}$  terms and arrive at the small signal control to C1 voltage transfer function as

$$G_{vb}(s) = \frac{\hat{v}_{c1}}{\Delta \hat{d}} = \frac{I_L}{2sC_1}$$
(4.23)

where  $\Delta \hat{d}$  is the small signal perturbation in the difference of the C1 charging and discharging duty cycles,  $\hat{v}_{c1}$  is the resulting small signal perturbation response, and  $s = j\omega$ . Note that the DC inductor current,  $I_L$ , can also be related to the DC output current through equations (4.2), (4.5), and (4.8). The resulting unity gain cross-over frequency for (4.23) can also be derived as

$$f_{c\_vb} = \frac{I_L}{4\pi C_1}.$$
 (4.24)

Note that (4.23) and (4.24) indicate that  $G_{vb}(s)$  follows an ideal integrator response whose scales with the DC inductor current (and the output current) which will need to be accounted for in the stability analysis and compensation of the balancer loop.

Fig. 4.16 shows the small signal block diagram of the balancer loop where  $H_b(s)$  is the transfer function of the C<sub>1</sub> sense amplifier,  $G_b(s)$  is the combined transfer function of the balancer EA and Z<sub>C\_B</sub>, and  $G_{pwm}$  is the small signal gain of the pulse width modulator which can be shown as

$$G_{pwm} = \frac{1}{V_M} \tag{4.25}$$

where  $V_M$  is the peak-to-peak voltage swing of the PWM oscillator signal used to sample the BP



Figure 4.16. V<sub>C1</sub> balancer small signal control loop block diagram.

and BM signals. From Fig. 4.16, the balancer loop gain can be defined as

$$T_b(s) = H_b(s)G_b(s)G_{pwm}G_{vb}(s) = H_b(s)G_b(s)\left(\frac{1}{V_M}\right)\left(\frac{I_L}{2C_1}\right)\left(\frac{1}{s}\right).$$
 (4.26)

The C<sub>1</sub> flying capacitor will have voltage ripple across it with a frequency equal to  $f_s$ . Since the BP and BM signals will be sampled by the pulse width modulator, we must ensure the switching is adequately attenuated before being sampled by the modulator. This can be easily achieved by placing a differential filtering capacitor,  $C_b$  between the BP and BM nodes. However, this will also introduce another pole,  $f_p$ , in the loop response in addition to the pole already preset at DC from (4.23) resulting in the possibility of instability. Additionally, the resulting loop gain cross-over frequency,  $f_c$  will be influenced by the values of I<sub>L</sub> and C<sub>1</sub>. Specifically, for a given C<sub>1</sub> value,  $f_c$  will increase with increasing output current, I<sub>O</sub>, since I<sub>L</sub> is dependent on I<sub>O</sub> so  $f_p$  must be placed at a sufficiently high enough frequency to ensure adequate phase margin but low enough to provide adequate attenuation of the V<sub>C1</sub> voltage ripple.

In order to meet these requirements, the  $f_c$  can also be tuned by controlling the effective gain of the balancing EA by placing an additional differential gain setting resistor,  $R_B$  between the BP and BM nodes. Fig. 4.17 shows the resulting differential mode compensation network that can be used for the balancer loop. To derive the resulting balancer EA and compensation, the equivalent differential mode (DM) half circuit is drawn in Fig. 4.18 where  $g_m$  and  $r_o$  is the equivalent DM half circuit transconductance and output resistance of the balancer EA,



Figure 4.17.  $V_{C1}$  balancer error amplifier and compensation components.

respectively. The resulting transfer function for for the balancer EA with the  $Z_{C,B}$  network is

$$G_{b}(s) = \frac{\Delta \hat{v}_{b}(s)}{\hat{v}_{e\_b}(s)} = -g_{m}r_{t}\left(\frac{1}{2r_{t}C_{B}s+1}\right) = -G_{bo}\left(\frac{1}{\frac{s}{\omega_{p}}+1}\right)$$
(4.27)

where

$$r_t = r_o ||R_{CM}|| \frac{R_B}{2} = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{r_o} + \frac{1}{R_{CM}} + \frac{2}{R_B}}$$
(4.28)

$$G_{bo} = g_m r_t \tag{4.29}$$

$$\omega_p = \frac{1}{2r_t C_B} \tag{4.30}$$

$$f_p = \frac{1}{4\pi r_t C_B}.\tag{4.31}$$

 $G_{bo}$  is the DC gain of the balancer EA while  $\omega_p$  and  $f_p$  are the values of the second pole in the  $G_b(s)$  response that is needed to attenuate the V<sub>C1</sub> switching ripple in radians per second and Hertz, respectively. As discussed in [23, 62, 63], setting  $f_p$  to approximately  $\frac{f_s}{10}$  is typically adequate to provide enough switching noise attenuation. Note that the C<sub>C</sub> capacitor in Fig. 4.15a has been neglected here since its value is assumed to be much smaller than C<sub>B</sub>. However, it could be accounted for by adding it in parallel with the  $\frac{1}{2C_Bs}$  component in Fig. 4.18 if needed.

Assuming the C<sub>1</sub> sense amplifier bandwidth is large,  $H_b(s)$  can be approximated as a



Figure 4.18. Equivalent  $V_{C1}$  balancer error amplifier differential mode half circuit with compensation network.

fixed gain equal to  $H_b$ . Equation (4.26) can now be re-written as

$$T_b(s) = H_b G_{bo}\left(\frac{1}{V_M}\right) \left(\frac{I_L}{2C_1}\right) \left(\frac{1}{s}\right) \left(\frac{1}{\frac{s}{\omega_p}+1}\right) = T_{bo}\left(\frac{1}{s}\right) \left(\frac{1}{\frac{s}{\omega_p}+1}\right)$$
(4.32)

where

$$T_{bo} = H_b G_{bo} \left(\frac{1}{V_M}\right) \left(\frac{I_L}{2C_1}\right) \tag{4.33}$$

is the DC loop gain. The magnitude of (4.32) can be found as

$$|T_b(j\omega)| = T_{bo}\left(\frac{1}{\omega}\right)\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{1+\left(\frac{\omega}{\omega_p}\right)^2}}\right).$$
(4.34)

If the desired values for  $f_p$  and loop phase margin (*PM*) are known, then the require  $f_c$  can be found from

$$PM = 180^{\circ} - 90^{\circ} - tan^{-1} \left(\frac{f_c}{f_p}\right)$$
(4.35)

and solving for  $f_c$ 

$$f_c = (f_p)tan(90^\circ - PM).$$
 (4.36)

The value for  $G_{bo}$  can then be found by setting (4.34) equal to 1 and substituting in the value of  $\omega_c$  for  $\omega$  where  $\omega_c$  is the cross-over frequency in radians per second, resulting in

$$G_{bo} = \left(\frac{1}{H_b}\right) V_M \left(\frac{I_L}{2C_1}\right) \omega_c \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{\omega_c}{\omega_p}\right)^2}.$$
(4.37)



Figure 4.19. Calculated and simulated  $V_{C1}$  balancer loop gain vs. frequency example.

The value for  $r_t$  can then be found from (4.29) which can then be used to find the value of  $R_B$  from (4.28) and the value for  $C_B$  can be found from (4.31). Fig. 4.19 shows the calculated and simulated frequency responses for an example compensation tuning with  $R_B = 37.8k\Omega$  and  $C_B = 80$ pF resulting in  $f_c = 49.4$ kHz with  $PM = 50.5^{\circ}$ . The parameters and design target values used for this example are summarized in Table 4.2.

## 4.6.5 Pulse Width Modulator Oscillator and Reference Signal Generation

Fig. 4.20 shows the schematic for the oscillator sub-block used for PWM generation. It utilizes a similar to the topology used in [52] to generate a triangle waveform at the OSC\_PRE node whose frequency ( $f_{OSC}$ ) is equal to  $2f_S$  and is tune-able via  $C_{OSC}$  and test register bits. This signal is then level shifted to the output (OSC) by the source follower stage formed by M4. This helps ensure the balancer EA inputs remain within its CM operating range when the

Parameter	Value	Description		
$H_b$	$\frac{1}{6}\frac{V}{V}$	C <sub>1</sub> sense amplifier gain		
V <sub>M</sub>	$1.3V_{p-p}$	Peak-to-peak PWM oscillator swing		
C <sub>1</sub>	7.4µF	First stage flying cap. value		
IL	3.4A	DC inductor current		
РМ	$50^{\circ}$	Target phase margin		
$f_p$	60kHz	Target second pole frequency		
$f_c$	50kHz	Target loop gain cross-over frequency		
<i>g</i> <sub>m</sub>	815µS	Transconductance of balancer EA		
r <sub>o</sub>	$428$ k $\Omega$	Small signal output resistance of balancer EA		
R <sub>CM</sub>	$200 \mathrm{k}\Omega$	Common mode detector resistance of balancer EA		

 Table 4.2. Component and converter parameters used for Fig. 4.19 plot.

balancer loop is disabled since the inputs of the balancer EA are shorted to its output when disabled (Fig. 4.15) and the output CM is set by the output of the regulation EA output (REG in Fig. 4.14). The reference voltages for the oscillator that set the voltage swing of the OSC output are derived from the externally supplied reference voltage,  $V_{BG}$ , and ground which are then level shifted by the source follower stack formed by M0–M2. The voltage divider formed by resistors  $R_{BG}$  and  $V_{BG}$  is used to derive M\_PRE which is then level shifted again by M3 to match the level shift ( $V_{LS}$ ) at OSC produced by M4. This was to help ensure M\_REF voltage accurately follows the mid-point of the OSC output swing as it is used to detect when D≈0.5 during Auto mode operation. The RU signal, whose frequency is also equal to  $f_{OSC}$ , is also utilized in the Auto mode detection implementation which indicates when the triangle oscillator waveform is ramping up from its minimum to maximum value. The usage of these signals is covered in more detail in subsection 4.6.8.

Complimentary to the RU signal, the RD signal indicates when the triangle oscillator waveform is ramping down from its maximum to minimum value. Both the both signals are



Figure 4.20. PWM Oscillator and reference signal generation schematic.

divided down in frequency by 2 to generate the RU\_DIV2 and RD\_DIV2 clock signals which are then used in the control signal generation for the power switches. This is covered in more detail in subsection 4.6.6.

#### 4.6.6 Control Signal Generation

Fig. 4.21 shows the schematic for the PWM signal generator that produces all of the PWM signals that are used to derive the power switch control signals for each of the modes. The pulse width modulator sub-block first produces the master PWM signals, PWM1 and PWM2, as well as their complements,  $\overline{PWM1}$  and  $\overline{PWM2}$  which operate at a frequency of 2f<sub>S</sub> since the PWM oscillator frequency is 2f<sub>S</sub>. The PWM1 and PWM2 are used to derive the control signals for LSP, LPS, and BPS modes while  $\overline{PWM1}$  and  $\overline{PWM2}$  are used to derive the control signals for UPS mode. PWM1 and PWM2 are time division multiplexed by the PWMA\_EN and PWMB\_EN frame signals while  $\overline{PWM1}$  and  $\overline{PWM2}$  are time division multiplexed by the PWMC\_EN and PWMD\_EN frame signals. Both sets of signals are generated by their own non-overlap signal generator blocks. The non-overlapping function ensures the previous frame ends before the next

one begins, avoiding momentary erroneous switch operation. The non-overlap of the frame signals also functions as a minimum off-time generator (i.e. maximum duty cycle limiter) for the LSP, LPS, and BPS modes and minimum on-time generator for the UPS mode (i.e. minimum duty cycle limiter). For the LSP, LPS, and BPS modes, the minimum on-time (i.e. minimum duty cycle limiter) is enforced by the one-shot pulse generator via the L\_TON\_MIN signal which is logically OR'd with the master PWM1 and PWM2 signals. For the UPS mode, the minimum off-time (i.e. maximum duty cycle limiter) is enforced by the same one-shot pulse generator via the U\_TOFF\_MIN signal which is logically OR'd with the master PWM1 and PWM2 signals.

Since the frame signals are derived from the RD\_DIV2 and RU\_DIV2 which operate at half the frequency of  $f_{OSC}$ , this means the frame signals operate at  $f_S$ . Hence, the PWM1, PWM2,  $\overline{PWM1}$ ,  $\overline{PWM2}$ , and their respective frame signals are used to derive the first stage switch control signals. Specifically, PWM1, PWM2, PWMA\_EN, and PWMB\_EN are used to generate the PWMA and PWMB signals which are eventually used to derive the switch S1 and S2 control signals when in LSP, LPS, or BPS modes. In a similar manner,  $\overline{PWM1}$ ,  $\overline{PWM2}$ , PWMC\_EN, and PWMD\_EN are used to generate the PWMC and PWMD signals which are eventually used to derive the S1 and S2 control signals when in UPS mode. The PWM signals used for the second stage switches are generated by logically OR'ing or NOR'ing the PWMA and PWMB or PWMC and PWMD pairs. The PWMAB\_PS2 signal is used for the second stage switches when in LSP mode while the  $\overline{PWMAB_PS2}$  signal is used for the second stage when operating in LPS or BPS modes. PWMCD\_PS2 is used for the second stage switches when operating in UPS mode.

The output AND gates are used to mute the PWM signals when PWM is disabled (e.g. during pre-charging of  $C_1$ ). The OR and NOR gates that have a single input grounded are included to help match timing skew between the PWM signals.

The PWM operating waveforms for LSP, LPS, and UPS modes are illustrated in Fig. 4.22. For BPS mode, the signals are identical except the PWMA and PWMB signals are not utilized



Figure 4.21. PWM control signal generator schematic.

since S1, S2, and S4 are forced to an on state while S3 is forced to an off state by the controller. Note that when the first stage is active, the control signals for S1 and S4 are complementary while the control signals for S2 and S3 are also complementary. In the second stage, the control signals for S5 and S7 are the same while S6 is complementary to S5 and S7.

Once all of the necessary PWM signals are generated, they are sent to the power switch control signal generator and selector shown in Fig. 4.23. This section of the controller includes multiple banks of signal multiplexers to properly route the PWM signals to the power switch level shifters. The mode decoder logic block controls the multiplexer banks as does the PC control and Auto mode detect blocks. The programmable non-overlap generation of the switch control signals is also handled here. Specifically, S1 is non-overlapped with S4, S2 is non-overlapped with S3, and S5/S7 is non-overlapped with S6. A set of programmable delay blocks for the first and second stage PWM signals are also included to allow de-skewing of the control signals if needed.



Figure 4.22. PWM control signals for (a) LSP, (b) LPS, and (c) UPS modes.



Figure 4.23. Power switch control signal generator/selector schematic.



Figure 4.24. C<sub>1</sub> pre-charge control diagram.

#### 4.6.7 C<sub>1</sub> Pre-charge Control

For modes that utilize the first stage (i.e. LSP, LPS, and UPS modes), pre-charging (PC) is necessary during start up to ensure no switches are stressed as  $V_{IN}$  turns on and  $V_{C1}$  is near  $v_{IV/2}$  before PWM begins. The implementation of the first stage PC circuit is shown in Fig. 4.24. When PC is enabled (PC\_EN = 1), switches S1, S4, and  $S_{PC}$  are on where  $S_{PC}$  is a small switch that is only active during PC operation. This ensures  $V_{C1}$  tracks  $V_{IN}$  until it reaches  $v_{IV/2}$ . S1 is then turned off and  $V_{C1}$  is regulated to  $v_{IV/2}$  by the comparator loop and the small switch  $S_{PC}$ .  $C_{B2}$  is also pre-charged to ensure that S2 remains off during start-up and its gate driver is properly powered before PWM begins. While S1 or  $S_{PC}$  can refresh  $C_{B2}$  when on, a current sink also produces a small bias current to ensure it remains charged regardless of the states of S1 and  $S_{PC}$  by drawing charge from C1. The Zener diode ensures the voltage of  $C_{B2}$  remains near 5V.

#### 4.6.8 Automatic Mode and Active Current Shaping

As previously noted in subsection 4.4.1, to extend the VCR range while minimizing  $R_0$ , Auto mode can be utilized to switch between LSP and LPS modes by detecting when D  $\approx 0.5$  and inverting the second stage operation from the previous mode. However, care must



Figure 4.25. Auto mode transition examples without and with ACS.

be taken during this transition since at D = 0.5 the I<sub>L</sub> ripple of LPS mode is twice that of LSP mode. An example LSP-to-LPS transition is shown in Fig. 4.25 where a mode transition occurs synchronously but results in a large step change in the cycle-to-cycle average value of I<sub>L</sub> which could result in significant V<sub>O</sub> perturbations. To minimize the magnitude of this step change, an active current shaping (ACS) technique shown in Fig. 4.25 is employed where I<sub>L</sub> is gradually transitioned to the nominal peak value for the subsequent mode. The ACS implementation and relevant waveforms are shown in Fig. 4.26. A hysteretic comparator is used to detect when the V<sub>O</sub> regulation error amplifier output, V<sub>REG</sub>, is above or below V<sub>M\_REF</sub> which is equal to the average of the PWM oscillator waveform, V<sub>OSC</sub> (i.e. the point of D = 0.5). The comparator output is gated by the RU signal from the oscillator which forces the converter to remain in the previous mode for Ts/8 before transitioning to the next mode by asserting the PS2\_INV signal, resulting in the inversion of the operation of the second stage for the next mode.

## 4.7 Experimental Verification

The annotated die micrograph of the prototype SIMS converter is shown in Fig. 4.27. It was fabricated in a 180nm HV BCD process with 9.4mm<sup>2</sup> of die area. 220µm pitch flip chip bumping was used to minimize package and PCB parasitics related losses at high output currents.



Figure 4.26. Auto mode duty cycle detection and ACS circuit and control waveforms.



125 Bump Flip Chip

Figure 4.27. Annotated die micrograph for SIMS converter test chip.



Figure 4.28. Measured steady-state operating waveforms and RMS inductor current for each mode.

#### 4.7.1 Steady-State Operation Measurements

The measured steady-state waveforms for each mode with  $V_0 = 3.6V$  at 1A output current are shown in Fig. 4.28 confirming the proper operating voltage levels at the LX/C2P switching nodes and inductor current slopes/levels. The RMS values of the inductor currents for each mode are also annotated along with the estimated inductor conduction loss reduction values when compared to a topology using the same inductor at the output with comparable ripple. The estimates indicate a potentially significant loss reduction even at moderate output current levels. These savings would continue to quadratically increase at higher loads.

#### 4.7.2 V<sub>C1</sub> Balancer Performance

Fig. 4.29 shows the measured performance of the C<sub>1</sub> active voltage balancer with  $V_{IN} = 20V$ ,  $V_O = 3.6V$  at 0.7A of output current while operating in LPS mode. As can be see in the top of Fig. 4.29, when the balancer is disabled the  $V_{C1}$  is not properly maintained at  $v_{IN/2}$  which results in an imbalance in the observed LX node voltage ( $V_{LX}$ ) and increased inductor current ( $I_L$ ) peak-to-peak ripple. When the balancer is enabled, as shown in the bottom of the figure,



Figure 4.29. Measured C<sub>1</sub> voltage balancer performance with balancer off vs. on.

 $V_{C1}$  is properly regulated to  $v_{IN/2}$ , resulting in balanced  $V_{LX}$  switching and reduced  $I_L$  ripple.

#### 4.7.3 V<sub>C1</sub> Pre-charge and Start Up Measurements

The C<sub>1</sub> pre-charging and start-up sequece for the converter were verified and are demonstrated in Fig. 4.30 for a V<sub>IN</sub> = 20V start-up scenario while in LPS mode. As can be seen, V<sub>C1</sub> initially tracks V<sub>IN</sub> until it reaches 10V (i.e.  $V_{IN/2}$ ). V<sub>IN</sub> then continues to 20V while V<sub>C1</sub> is regulated to 10V by the pre-charge control loop. PWM is then enabled (PC\_EN = 0) and the V<sub>O</sub> regulation reference voltage, V<sub>REF</sub>, is ramped up to its final value. The 2nd stage gradually enters normal operation as V<sub>O</sub> ramps up.

#### 4.7.4 Automatic Mode and ACS Performance

The measured Auto mode with ACS performance during a load step induced LSP-to-LPS transition is shown in Fig. 4.31, where  $I_L$  is properly shaped to the next mode. The  $V_O$  droop, which includes the combined effects of the load current and mode change, is limited to 200mV. The same test was repeated for the fixed LSP and LPS modes which resulted in 160mV of droop



Figure 4.30. Measured C<sub>1</sub> pre-charge and start-up waveforms.



Figure 4.31. Measured LSP-to-LPS Auto Mode with ACS transition during a load step change.

as shown in Fig. 4.32, indicating the Auto mode with ACS transition adds only ~40mV of droop to the transient response. The same test was performed for the LPS-to-LSP transition with similar results as shown in Fig. 4.33.

#### 4.7.5 Power Efficiency Performance vs. Modes and Operating Points

The measured power efficiency vs.  $I_O$  vs.  $V_{IN}$  plots across all modes with a 2.2µH (35m $\Omega$  DCR) 1210 case size chip inductor and  $f_S = 600$ kHz (1.2MHz at inductor) in Fig. 4.34 show it achieves a peak efficiency of 94.8% and a peak output power of 21W while maintaining peak efficiencies >89.5% across all modes from a  $V_{IN}$  of 5V–24V. The LSP and LPS mode plots with  $V_{IN} = 20$ V also illustrate the VCR extension provided by Auto mode.



Figure 4.32. Measured load step response for fixed (a) LSP and (b) LPS modes.



Figure 4.33. Measured LPS-to-LSP Auto Mode with ACS transition during a load step change.



Figure 4.34. Measured power efficiency vs. output current vs. modes and input voltage.

	TI BQ25910	Z. Xia ISSCC '21	K. Wei ISSCC '20	C. Hardy JSSC '19	This work
Topology	3-level Buck	Hyb. Casc. SC	Tri-State DSD	FIH	Re-Cfg SIMS
Technology	NR	180nm	180nm BCD	130nm BCD	180nm BCD
Inductor Location	Output	Output	Output	Input	Middle
V <sub>IN</sub> /V <sub>O</sub> Range	3.9-14V/2-4.8V	4-6V/0.4-1.2V	12-24V/1V	9V/3-4.2V†	5-24V/2.8-4.2V
Peak I <sub>o</sub> /P <sub>o</sub>	6A/22W^	1A/1.1W	3A/3W	3.4A/12.2W <sup>†</sup>	5A/21W
Pre-Charge?	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Est. DC biased C <sub>FLY</sub>	5.8µF^	3.2µF+6.4µF	1µF+1µF <sup>††</sup>	6.6µF+13µF	5.8µF+10µF
Inductor (DCR)	0.47µH (17mΩ)	0.24µH (NR)	2x560nH (NR)	1µH (5.5mΩ)†	2.2µH (35mΩ)
Max. Power Density*	1.64W/mm <sup>2^</sup>	0.1W/mm <sup>2</sup>	0.48W/mm <sup>2**</sup>	0.44W/mm <sup>2†</sup>	0.86W/mm <sup>2</sup>
Max. Eff. (at VCR)	95.4% (0.76)	96.9% (0.24)	91.2% (0.08)	94.3% (0.4) <sup>†</sup>	94.8% (0.72)
Min. VCR (at Eff.)	0.14 (NR)^	0.08 (85.5%)	0.04 (88.3%)	0.33 (NR)	0.12 (89.5%)

Table 4.3. SIMS Converter performance comparison to prior works.

^ Estimated from reported data. NR: Not reported \* Area counts flying caps., inductors, and die areas. † Reported  $V_{01}$  performance with discrete inductor. \*\* Area counts die area only. †† Only nominal values reported.

#### 4.7.6 Comparison to Prior Work

A comparison table is provided in Table 4.3. The prototype extends the  $V_{IN}$  range by >88% compared to [18] and achieves wider VCR ranges over [52, 64, 65] while reducing inductor conduction losses.

# 4.8 Acknowledgment

Chapter 4, in part, has been accepted for publication of the material as it may appear in [22]:

C. Hardy and H. Le, "11.5 A 21W 94.8%-Efficient Reconfigurable Single Inductor Multi-Stage Hybrid DC-DC Converter," 2023 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, USA, Feb. 2023.

The dissertation author is the primary author of these publications and the co-authors have approved the use of the material for this dissertation.

# Chapter 5 Conclusion

In order to provide some background regarding the modeling approach of the converter prototypes discussed in this dissertation, Chapter 2 provided an overview of charge flow based analysis of conventional converters. This was intended to demonstrate the utility of the analysis method in the estimation of the loss modeling which were then utilized in the design and optimization of the converters presented in Chapters 3 and 4.

Chapter 3 presented a new step-down hybrid converter topology that uses an input flying inductor and a SC network to generate output voltages suitable for charging 1-cell or 2-cell batteries. The proposed topology relocates the inductor from the high-current output to the low-current input, while providing step-down conversion ratios that take advantage of the higher voltage settings of USB-C power delivery. Moreover, moving the inductor to the input allowed the parasitic inductance of a USB cable to be utilized in place of a discrete inductor in proposed a smart-cable architecture, eliminating the need for on-board magnetics and reducing on-board power dissipation. The converter prototype is implemented in 7.37 mm<sup>2</sup> of a 130nm BCD process and provides two outputs with ranges of 3–4.2 V and 6–8.4 V from a 9V input. With a 1µH discrete inductor, the prototype achieved peak powers of 12.2W and 31.9W and peak efficiencies of 94.3% and 97.4% for each output, respectively. The prototype was also demonstrated in a smart-cable architecture to limit on-board dissipation to 630 mW while delivering 7.2W at the first output or 350mW while delivering 14.4W at the second output.

Simultaneous data and power transfer and electromagnetic interference tests were also provided to support the feasibility of integration into a smart-cable architecture.

Chapter 4 presented a reconfigurable single inductor multi-stage hybrid step-down converter that efficiently provided the VCRs needed for 1-cell battery charging across a wide input voltage range of 5V–24V while moving the inductor away from the high output current path. The inductor is used to couple two synchronous SC stages to provide soft charging benefits to each stage. It extended reconfigurable SC and merged multi-stage operation concepts to deliver a maximum output current of 5A and achieved peak efficiencies of 94.8% and 92.4% from 5V and 24V input supplies, respectively.

# **Bibliography**

- [1] "USB Charger (USB Power Delivery) | USB-IF." [Online]. Available: https: //www.usb.org/usb-charger-pd
- [2] S. R. Sanders, E. Alon, H. P. Le, M. D. Seeman, M. John, and V. W. Ng, "The Road to Fully Integrated DC–DC Conversion via the Switched-Capacitor Approach," *IEEE Transactions* on *Power Electronics*, vol. 28, no. 9, pp. 4146–4155, Sep. 2013.
- [3] M. D. Seeman and S. R. Sanders, "Analysis and Optimization of Switched-Capacitor DC–DC Converters," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 841–851, Mar. 2008.
- [4] H. Le, S. R. Sanders, and E. Alon, "Design Techniques for Fully Integrated Switched-Capacitor DC-DC Converters," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no. 9, pp. 2120–2131, Sep. 2011.
- [5] L. G. Salem and P. P. Mercier, "A Recursive Switched-Capacitor DC-DC Converter Achieving 2<sup>n</sup>-1 Ratios With High Efficiency Over a Wide Output Voltage Range," *IEEE Journal* of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 49, no. 12, pp. 2773–2787, Dec. 2014.
- [6] V. Yousefzadeh, E. Alarcon, and D. Maksimovic, "Three-level buck converter for envelope tracking in RF power amplifiers," in *Twentieth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition*, 2005. APEC 2005., vol. 3, Mar. 2005, pp. 1588–1594 Vol. 3.
- [7] W. Kim, D. Brooks, and G.-Y. Wei, "A Fully-Integrated 3-Level DC-DC Converter for Nanosecond-Scale DVFS," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 206– 219, Jan. 2012.
- [8] X. Liu, C. Huang, and P. K. T. Mok, "A High-Frequency Three-Level Buck Converter With Real-Time Calibration and Wide Output Range for Fast-DVS," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 582–595, Feb. 2018.
- [9] W. Liu, P. Assem, Y. Lei, P. K. Hanumolu, and R. Pilawa-Podgurski, "10.3 A 94.2%-peak-efficiency 1.53A direct-battery-hook-up hybrid Dickson switched-capacitor DC-DC converter with wide continuous conversion ratio in 65nm CMOS," in 2017 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), Feb. 2017, pp. 182–183.

- [10] X. Yang, H. Cao, C. Xue, L. He, Z. Tan, M. Zhao, Y. Ding, W. Li, and W. Qu, "33.4 An 8A 998A/inch3 90.2% Peak Efficiency 48V-to-1V DC-DC Converter Adopting On-Chip Switch and GaN Hybrid Power Conversion," in 2021 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), vol. 64, Feb. 2021, pp. 466–468, iSSN: 2376-8606.
- [11] D. Yan, X. Ke, and D. B. Ma, "A Two-Phase 2MHz DSD GaN Power Converter with Master-Slave AO2T Control for Direct 48V/1V DC-DC Conversion," in 2019 Symposium on VLSI Circuits, Jun. 2019, pp. C170–C171, iSSN: 2158-5636.
- [12] R. Das, G. Seo, and H. Le, "A 120V-to-1.8V 91.5%-Efficient 36-W Dual-Inductor Hybrid Converter with Natural Soft-charging Operations for Direct Extreme Conversion Ratios," in 2018 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), Sep. 2018, pp. 1266– 1271.
- [13] R. C. N. Pilawa-Podgurski and D. J. Perreault, "Merged Two-Stage Power Converter With Soft Charging Switched-Capacitor Stage in 180 nm CMOS," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 47, no. 7, pp. 1557–1567, Jul. 2012.
- [14] C. Chen, J. Liu, and H. Lee, "A 2.5-5MHz 87% Peak Efficiency 48V-to-1V Integrated Hybrid DC-DC Converter Adopting Ladder SC Network with Capacitor-Assisted Dual-Inductor Filtering," in 2022 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), vol. 65, Feb. 2022, pp. 234–236, iSSN: 2376-8606.
- [15] Z. Xia and J. T. Stauth, "A Cascaded Hybrid Switched-Capacitor DC–DC Converter Capable of Fast Self Startup for USB Power Delivery," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 57, no. 6, pp. 1854–1864, Jun. 2022, conference Name: IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits.
- [16] N. Pal, A. Fish, W. McIntyre, N. Griesert, G. Winter, T. Eichhorn, R. Pilawa-Podgurski, and P. K. Hanumolu, "A 91% efficient 30V hybrid boost-SC converter based backlight LED driver in 180nm CMOS," in 2020 IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), Mar. 2020, pp. 1–4, iSSN: 2152-3630.
- [17] K. Wei, Y. Ramadass, and D. B. Ma, "Direct 12V/24V-to-1V Tri-State Double Step-Down Power Converter With Online VCF Rebalancing and In-Situ Precharge Rate Regulation," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 2416–2426, Aug. 2021, conference Name: IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits.
- [18] "BQ25910 data sheet, product information and support | TI.com." [Online]. Available: https://www.ti.com/product/BQ25910
- [19] "TPS54A20 data sheet, product information and support | TI.com." [Online]. Available: https://www.ti.com/product/TPS54A20
- [20] "LTC7821 Datasheet and Product Info | Analog Devices." [Online]. Available: https://www.analog.com/en/products/ltc7821.html

- [21] Casey Hardy, Yogesh Ramadass, Kevin Scoones, and Hanh-Phuc Le, "A Flying-Inductor Hybrid DC–DC Converter for 1-Cell and 2-Cell Smart-Cable Battery Chargers
   | IEEE Journals & Magazine | IEEE Xplore," Nov. 2019. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8892532/media#media
- [22] Casey Hardy and Hanh-Phuc Le, "11.5 A 21W 94.8%-Efficient Reconfigurable Single Inductor Multi-Stage Hybrid DC-DC Converter," in 2023 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), Feb. 2023.
- [23] Robert W. Erickson and Dragan Maksimovic, *Fundamentals of Power Electronics*, 3rd ed. Cham, Switzerland: Springer, 2020.
- [24] Tom Van Breussegem and Michiel Steyaert, *CMOS Integrated Capacitive DC-DC Converters*, 2013th ed. New York: Springer, 2013.
- [25] M. Makowski and D. Maksimovic, "Performance limits of switched-capacitor DC-DC converters," in *Proceedings of PESC '95 - Power Electronics Specialist Conference*, vol. 2, Jun. 1995, pp. 1215–1221 vol.2.
- [26] B. Wu, L. Wang, L. Yang, K. M. Smedley, and S. Singer, "Comparative Analysis of Steady-State Models for a Switched Capacitor Converter," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 1186–1197, Feb. 2017, conference Name: IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics.
- [27] Hanh-Phuc Le, "Design Techniques for Fully Integrated Switched-Capacitor Voltage Regulators | EECS at UC Berkeley." [Online]. Available: https://www2.eecs.berkeley.edu/ Pubs/TechRpts/2015/EECS-2015-21.html
- [28] T. M. Van Breussegem and M. S. J. Steyaert, "Monolithic Capacitive DC-DC Converter With Single Boundary–Multiphase Control and Voltage Domain Stacking in 90 nm CMOS," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 1715–1727, Jul. 2011, conference Name: IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits.
- [29] M. S. Makowski, "A note on resistive models of switched-capacitor DC-DC converters: Unified incremental-graph-based formulas given," in 2012 International Conference on Signals and Electronic Systems (ICSES), Sep. 2012, pp. 1–4.
- [30] "BQ25890 1S 5A Fast Charger MaxCharge Technology for High Input Voltage and Adjustable USB OTG Boost." [Online]. Available: http://www.ti.com/product/BQ25890/ description
- [31] C. Schaef and J. T. Stauth, "A Highly Integrated Series-Parallel Switched-Capacitor Converter With 12 V Input and Quasi-Resonant Voltage-Mode Regulation," *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 456–464, Jun. 2018.
- [32] P. Renz, M. Kaufmann, M. Lueders, and B. Wicht, "8.6 A Fully Integrated 85%-Peak-Efficiency Hybrid Multi Ratio Resonant DC-DC Converter with 3.0-to-4.5V Input and

500uA-to-120mA Load Range," in 2019 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), Feb. 2019, pp. 156–158.

- [33] J. S. Rentmeister, C. Schaef, B. X. Foo, and J. T. Stauth, "A flying capacitor multilevel converter with sampled valley-current detection for multi-mode operation and capacitor voltage balancing," in 2016 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), Sep. 2016, pp. 1–8.
- [34] M. Sun, Z. Yang, K. Joshi, D. Mandal, P. Adell, and B. Bakkaloglu, "A 6 A, 93% Peak Efficiency, 4-Phase Digitally Synchronized Hysteretic Buck Converter With ±1.5% Frequency and ±3.6% Current-Sharing Error," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 11, pp. 3081–3094, Nov. 2017.
- [35] S. J. Kim, R. K. Nandwana, Q. Khan, R. C. N. Pilawa-Podgurski, and P. K. Hanumolu, "A 4-Phase 30–70 MHz Switching Frequency Buck Converter Using a Time-Based Compensator," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 2814–2824, Dec. 2015.
- [36] G. Seo and H. Le, "An inductor-less hybrid step-down DC-DC converter architecture for future smart power cable," in 2017 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Mar. 2017, pp. 247–253.
- [37] M. Veerachary and T. N. Reddy, "Voltage-Mode control of Hybrid Switched Capacitor Converters," in *IECON 2006 - 32nd Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics*, Nov. 2006, pp. 2450–2453.
- [38] G. Gabian, J. Gamble, B. Blalock, and D. Costinett, "Hybrid buck converter optimization and comparison for smart phone integrated battery chargers," in *2018 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC)*, Mar. 2018, pp. 2148–2154.
- [39] A. Abdulslam and P. P. Mercier, "8.2 A Continuous-Input-Current Passive-Stacked Third-Order Buck Converter Achieving 0.7W/mm2 Power Density and 94% Peak Efficiency," in 2019 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), Feb. 2019, pp. 148–150.
- [40] N. Tang, B. Nguyen, Y. Tang, W. Hong, Z. Zhou, and D. Heo, "8.4 Fully Integrated Buck Converter with 78% Efficiency at 365mW Output Power Enabled by Switched-Inductor Capacitor Topology and Inductor Current Reduction Technique," in 2019 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), Feb. 2019, pp. 152–154.
- [41] C. Hardy and H. Le, "8.3 A 10.9W 93.4%-Efficient (27W 97%-Efficient) Flying-Inductor Hybrid DC-DC Converter Suitable for 1-Cell (2-Cell) Battery Charging Applications," in 2019 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), Feb. 2019, pp. 150–152.
- [42] Y. Lei and R. C. N. Pilawa-Podgurski, "A General Method for Analyzing Resonant and Soft-Charging Operation of Switched-Capacitor Converters," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 30, no. 10, pp. 5650–5664, Oct. 2015.

- [43] Y. Lei, R. May, and R. Pilawa-Podgurski, "Split-Phase Control: Achieving Complete Soft-Charging Operation of a Dickson Switched-Capacitor Converter," *IEEE Transactions* on Power Electronics, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 770–782, Jan. 2016.
- [44] Y. Lei, W. Liu, and R. C. N. Pilawa-Podgurski, "An Analytical Method to Evaluate and Design Hybrid Switched-Capacitor and Multilevel Converters," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 2227–2240, Mar. 2018.
- [45] I. Oota, N. Hara, and F. Ueno, "A general method for deriving output resistances of serial fixed type switched-capacitor power supplies," in 2000 IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems. Emerging Technologies for the 21st Century. Proceedings (IEEE Cat No.00CH36353), vol. 3, May 2000, pp. 503–506 vol.3.
- [46] M. D. Seeman, "A Design Methodology for Switched-Capacitor DC-DC Converters:," Defense Technical Information Center, Fort Belvoir, VA, Tech. Rep., May 2009. [Online]. Available: http://www.dtic.mil/docs/citations/ADA538398
- [47] Tony Chan Carusone, David Johns, and Kenneth W. Martin, Analog Integrated Circuit Design, 2nd ed. Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley, 2012.
- [48] S. Rajapandian, K. L. Shepard, P. Hazucha, and T. Karnik, "High-voltage power delivery through charge recycling," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 41, no. 6, pp. 1400– 1410, Jun. 2006.
- [49] M. P. Flynn and S. U. Lidholm, "A 1.2- mu m CMOS current-controlled oscillator," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 27, no. 7, pp. 982–987, Jul. 1992.
- [50] Sergio Franco, *Analog Circuit Design: Discrete and Integrated*, 1st ed. New York, NY: McGraw Hill, Jan. 2014.
- [51] G. Seo and H. Le, "S-Hybrid Step-Down DC-DC Converter-Analysis of Operation and Design Considerations," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, pp. 1–1, 2019.
- [52] C. Hardy, Y. Ramadass, K. Scoones, and H.-P. Le, "A Flying-Inductor Hybrid DC–DC Converter for 1-Cell and 2-Cell Smart-Cable Battery Chargers," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 54, no. 12, pp. 3292–3305, Dec. 2019, conference Name: IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits.
- [53] Henry W. Ott, *Electromagnetic Compatibility Engineering*, 1st ed. Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley, 2009.
- [54] "USB 3.0 A/M—USB 3.0 A/M." [Online]. Available: http://www.qualtekusa.com/images/ Cable%20Assemblies/PDF\_2/3023001-01M.pdf
- [55] "USB 3.1(C)/M—USB 3.1 (C)/M." [Online]. Available: http://www.qualtekusa.com/ images/Cable%20Assemblies/PDF\_2/3023041-01M.pdf

- [56] T. Hegarty, "An overview of radiated EMI specifications for power supplies," 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.ti.com/lit/wp/slyy142/slyy142.pdf
- [57] S. Damphousse, K. Ouici, A. Rizki, and M. Mallinson, "All Digital Spread Spectrum Clock Generator for EMI Reduction," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 145–150, Jan. 2007.
- [58] T. Hegarty, "An overview of conducted EMI specifications for power supplies," 2018. [Online]. Available: http://www.ti.com/lit/wp/slyy136/slyy136.pdf
- [59] "TPS84621 2.95-V to 14.5-V Input, 6-A Synchronous Buck, Integrated Power Solution | TI.com." [Online]. Available: http://www.ti.com/product/TPS84621
- [60] R. C. Pilawa-Podgurski, D. M. Giuliano, and D. J. Perreault, "Merged two-stage power converterarchitecture with softcharging switched-capacitor energy transfer," in 2008 IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, Jun. 2008, pp. 4008–4015.
- [61] Y. Jiang, M.-K. Law, P.-I. Mak, and R. P. Martins, "A 0.22-to-2.4V-input fine-grained fully integrated rational buck-boost SC DC-DC converter using algorithmic voltage-feedin (AVFI) topology achieving 84.1% peak efficiency at 13.2mW/mm2," in 2018 IEEE International Solid - State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), Feb. 2018, pp. 422–424.
- [62] S. Lee, "Demystifying Type II and Type III Compensators Using Op-Amp and OTA for DC/DC Co," Jul. 2014. [Online]. Available: https://www.ti.com/lit/an/slva662/slva662. pdf?ts=1668978860507&ref\_url=https%253A%252F%252Fwww.google.com%252F
- [63] H. J. Zhang, "Application Note 149: Modeling and Loop Compensation Design of Switching Mode Power Supplies," Jan. 2015. [Online]. Available: https: //www.analog.com/media/en/technical-documentation/application-notes/an149fa.pdf
- [64] Z. Xia and J. Stauth, "17.1 A Two-Stage Cascaded Hybrid Switched-Capacitor DC-DC Converter with 96.9% Peak Efficiency Tolerating 0.6V/µs Input Slew Rate During Startup," in 2021 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), vol. 64, Feb. 2021, pp. 256–258.
- [65] K. Wei, Y. Ramadass, and D. B. Ma, "11.1 A Direct 12V/24V-to-1V 3W 91.2%-Efficiency Tri-State DSD Power Converter with Online VCF Rebalancing and In-Situ Precharge Rate Regulation," in 2020 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), Feb. 2020, pp. 190–192.